


Agenda - Planning Commission
November 14, 2023

Page 2

K. Work Session

Case#29-23 — GRR Ancillary — Rezoning of 10.57 acres of land from I-1 Industrial to C-
PUD Commercial Planned Unit Development and Preliminary Site Plan Review located
at the NW corner of 36™ Street and Patterson Avenue

L. New Business

Set public hearing date of , for:

M. Other Business

1. Commissioners’ Comments
2. Staff’s Comments

N. Adjournment

*Public Hearing Format: .
1. Staff Presentation — Introduction of project, Staff Report and Recommendation
Introduction of project representative
2. Project Presentation — By project representative
3. Open Public Hearing (please state name, address and speak at podium. Comments are limited to five
minutes per speaker; exceptions may be granted by the chair for representative speakers and
applicants.)
Close Public Hearing
Commission Discussion — Requests for clarification to project representative, public or staff
Commission decision — Options
postpone decision — table to date certain
reject proposal
accept proposal
accept proposal with conditions,

S i



PROPOSED MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING
OF THE KENTWOOD PLANNING COMMISSION
OCTOBER 24, 2023, 7:00 P.M.
COMMISSION CHAMBERS

Chair Jones called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Commissioner Quinn.

Roll Call:

Members Present: Bill Benoit, Dan Holtrop, Sandra Jones, Ed Kape, Alex Porter, Ray
Poyner, Darius Quinn, Doug VanderMeer,

Members Absent: Sarah Weir (with notification)

Others Present: Community Development Director Terry Schweitzer, Economic
Development Planner Lisa Golder, Senior Planner Joe Pung, Planning Assistant Monique
Collier, the applicants and one citizen.

Motion by Kape, supported by Quinn, to excuse Weir from the meeting.

- Motion Carried (8-0) —
- Welir absent -
Declaration of Conflict of Interest

There was no conflict of interest statement expressed.
Approval of the Minutes and Findings of Fact

Motion by Commissioner Holtrop, supported by Commissioner Poyner, to approve
the Minutes of October 10, 2023 and the Findings of Fact for: Case#17-23 — Bosgraff
Walma 44 - Change in the Master Planned Land Use Designation from Low
Density Residential to Medium Density Residential located at 2802 — 44 Street -

- Motion Carried (8-0) —
- Weir absent -
Approval of the Agenda

Schweitzer stated under new business we need to set a public hearing date of November
23,2023 for: Case#29-23 — GRR Ancillary — Rezoning of 10.57 acres of land from [-1
Industrial to C-PUD Commercial Planned Unit Development and Preliminary Site Plan
Review located at the NW corner of 36™ Street and Patterson Avenue

Motion by Commissioner Quinn, supported by Commissioner Benoit, to approve
the agenda for the October 24, 2023, meeting with change noted.

- Motion Carried (8-0) —



Proposed Minutes
Planning Commission
October 24, 2023

Page 2

G.

- Weir absent -
Acknowledge visitors wishing to speak to non-agenda items.
There was no public comment.
Old Business

Case#24-23 — Hotel Conversion — Special Land Use and Site Plan Review to convert an
existing office Building into a Hotel Located at 2180-44™ Street SE (Tabled from the
October 10 public hearing meeting)

Golder stated the applicant will not be present, however if the commissioners get to a
point and feel like they need his input, the applicant would be willing to table.

Golder stated the request is for a conversion of an office building into a 24-room hotel.
Golder stated it is zoned for office and hotels are permitted with special land use in the
office zone.

Golder stated with respect to the special land use standards, is it harmonious and
appropriate in appearance with the existing intended character of the area. She stated the
building itself is not going to change and pretty much looks the same. She stated there
will be an additional 45 feet of landscaping along the south lot line adjacent to residential
uses where currently there is a lot of parking. Golder stated it is serviced by sufficient
public facilities and are there excessive additional requirements for public facilities and
services.

Golder stated will it not involve activities and materials that would be detrimental to the
general welfare by traffic, noise, smoke, fumes or glare. She stated a 24-unit hotel does
not generate a lot of traffic. She stated staff is going to review the lighting plan. Golder
stated the revised recommendation addresses some of the concerns about noise.

Golder stated the request meets the specific standards for hotels.

Golder stated at the work session there was concern as to whether this will turn in to a
long-term residential rental. Golder stated she asked the City Attorney to look at that and
he recommended some language that is in the recommendation. She stated in addition,
there is the statement of operations which the City Attorney took what Mr. Rostov has
provided and amended it to reflect what he thought would be better wording.

Golder stated she is recommending conditional approval of the special land use and site
plan review as described in her memos dated October 24, 2023.

Jones opened the public hearing.
There was no public comment.



Proposed Minutes
Planning Commission
October 24, 2023

Page 3

Motion by Kape, supported by Quinn, to close the public hearing.

- Motion Carried (8-0) —
- Weir absent -

Poyner stated this is an allowable use, it looks like the issues are being addressed and he
is ok with the request.

VanderMeer stated he appreciates the applicant putting the maximum stay duration in his

bylaws. He stated the rooms are spacious and was thinking that families or college kids
would try to stay in the rooms long term.

Holtrop stated in the hotel operations statement, it states that all guest should have valid
ID and complete the check-in process.

Quinn questioned what kind of mechanism do we have in place for long term
enforcement of these conditions as it relates to butting up to a residential neighborhood.
Golder stated that is why condition 4 in the recommendation states: “The applicant shall
establish a noise complaint policy, that will be reviewed and approved by city staff.” The
policy will include where guests can congregate, a description of prohibited activities and
noises, quiet hours, and policies related to the consumption of alcohol on the premises.
The consequences of non-compliance must be outlined within the policy. Failure of the
hotel to enforce the approved noise policy or the Hotel Operating Statement can result in
the revocation of the Special Land Use approval. Golder stated the remedy would be if it
becomes a problem, we can take away their special land use approval.

Kape stated in the manufacturing housing industry they have a two heartbeat per
bedroom law and that is a State law. He stated he doesn’t know if that carries over into

apartments and hotels. Kape questioned if there will be elevators. Golder stated yes, they
are already there.

Porter pointed out that in item 3 in the conditions will give the hotel the ability to put
anyone out.

Motion by Holtrop, supported by Quinn, to grant conditional approval of the
request for a Special Land Use a 24-room hotel as described in Case No. 24-23.

Approval is conditioned on conditions 1 -9 and basis point 1 -8 as described in

Golder’s memo dated October 24,2023
- Motion Carried (8-0) —
- Weir absent

Motion by Holtrop, supported by Benoit, to grant conditional approval of the site
plan dated - October 17, 2023 for a 24-room hotel as described in Case No. 24-23.



Proposed Minutes
Planning Commission
October 24, 2023

Page 4

Approval is conditioned on conditions 1 —5 and basis points 1 — 5 as deseribed in
Golder’s memo dated October 24, 2023

- Motion Carried (8-0) —
- Weir absent -
Public Hearing

Case#26-23 — Biggby Coffee — Special Land Use and Site Plan Review for a Drive
Through Restaurant — Located at 2300 44™ Street SE;

Golder stated the applicant is proposing a drive-thru Biggby Coffee facility located on a
currently vacant property at 2300 44 Street. She stated it is zoned commercial, the
proposed use is an 800 square foot coffee shop. She stated there is no indoor seating, only
the drive-through and then there is a walk up window out in the front.

Golder stated if you want to get into the property you would access from the adjacent
property to the east. There would be a direct turn into the property and then an easement
that would allow you to get to the proposed Biggby. She stated staff has asked for
information on the cross access easement. She stated when you exit, you would have to
turn right, go through the intersection and then come all the way back if you want to go
back to the west. She stated it is more difficult to get out to go westbound.

Golder stated the lot is narrow 85 feet wide. She stated there are wetlands to the south
and to the west and that makes it impossible to get that rear exit that we might have
thought we could get over to Countrywood Street..

Golder stated with the site plan, we have asked the applicant to provide the 10 foot
landscape buffer on each side and that has been done. She stated we need more
information on site lighting and staff will review a more detailed landscape plan.

Golder stated on the elevations that was received, there were too many signs, therefore
staff will work on that at an administrative level.

Golder stated staff is recommending approval of the special land use and site plan review
as described in her memos dated October 17, 2023.

Garner Tyson, the owner of Biggby Coffee was present. He stated they do have the
easement paperwork.

Mark Bailey, with Feenstra and Associates was also present. He stated they received the
document for the access easement. He stated the easement is 50 feet wide by 120 feet off
the ROW. He stated they moved the site over about 1- 2 feet. He stated he has done
everything for the EGLE review and it is straightforward.



Proposed Minutes
Planning Commission
October 24, 2023

Page 5

Porter questioned how much room they have to get to the walk up window and how many

people could be standing there the drive. Bailey stated it is 12 feet wide from the building
out to the crosswalk.

Kape Quinn, Benoit, Poyner and Jones were ok with the request.

VanderMeer stated his concern is the walk-up windows with the two drive up windows
seems to put pedestrians possibly in danger. He stated he is for the walk-up window, but
it is putting it between the drive up windows that concerns him. Golder explained the
drive-up windows are on the other side and the walk up is on the north side. She stated
we want our community to be more walkable.

Motion by Benoit, supported by Poyner, to grant conditional approval of the special
land use for Biggby Coffee Drive-Through facility as described in Case No. 26-23.
Approval is conditioned on conditions 1 — Sand basis points 1 —5 as described in
Golder’s memo dated October 17, 2023.

- Motion Carried (8-0) —

- Weir absent -

Motion by Benoit, supported by Poyner, to grant conditional approval of the site
plan dated October 9, 2023 for Bigghy Coffee Drive-Through facility as described in
Case No. 26-23. Approval is conditioned on conditions 1 —5 and basis points 1 -5 as
described in Golder’s memo dated October 17, 2023.

- Motion Carried (8-0) —
- Weir absent -

Case#27-23 — Kentwood Drive and Shine — Special Land Use and Site Plan Review for a
Vehicle Wash Establishment — Located at 3311 Woodland Drive SE

Pung stated the request is a special land use and site plan review for a vehicle wash
facility. Along with the vehicle wash, they are also proposing an accessory oil change and
quick lube on the north end of the building.

Pung stated the site is 4 %2 acre in size located on the north side of Woodland Dr. west of
the East Beltline. He stated the site is currently an overflow parking lot for the office

building to the north which the applicant also owns and it used to be a Western Michigan
University satellite campus.

Pung stated there is currently a drive that only provides access to Anna’s House which is
on the adjacent property to the east. He stated with this proposal the drive would also
serve as the main access to this site. The existing drive connection to the north goes into
the other parking lot, that will be an egress only for bypass traffic.



Proposed Minutes
Planning Commission
October 24, 2023

Page 6

Pung stated this site was conditionally rezoned to C2 Community Commercial in
December of last year. One of the conditions of approval was that the use was restricted
to the carwash and the accessory oil change only. As long as it is zoned C2 this is the
only use that can be there, and the oil change can only be associated with the carwash.

Pung stated the applicant also went to the Zoning Board of Appeals for several variances
One was for a reduction to the rear yard setback. They were granted a variance of 28 feet
to the rearyard setback. They were also granted a reduction of 17 feet to the adjacent
residential to the northwest. They were also granted a waiver to the 10-foot buffer zone
requirement along the property line, but one of the conditions of approval was that, they
would be putting in a permanent landscape easement that would act as that buffer but it
will be on the adjacent property to the north.

Pung stated the one change from the work session is, they are looking at retaining a
portion of the existing pavement. He stated they are retaining the area in the west and
plan on putting a small berm to hide. He noted the proposed condition: “The western
most ninety-five (95) feet of existing pavement which will not be removed shall not be
used for parking or storage and shall be kept free of weeds, trash, junk, etc. and shall be
removed if it creates a nuisance or is otherwise a detriment to adjacent property or the
surrounding neighborhood.”

Pung stated at the work session the applicant was asked to modify the operations
description. They have since modified the operations statement and the commissioners
have received a copy.

Pung stated the proposed car wash is currently located on 3 separate parcels. He stated
those 3 parcels will have to be combined as part of this project.

Pung stated regarding the egress to the north, the property owner currently owns all the
parcels, it is a condition of approval that: A permanent egress easement, reviewed and
approved by staff and the City Attorney, to East Beltline Avenue through the properties
to the north (2329 East Beltline Avenue & 2333 East Beltline Avenue) shall be recorded.

Pung stated there was discussion regarding the possibility of backing up and stacking and
blocking the egress. The applicant provided information on their busiest car wash of their
holdings and it currently has about 3-4 vehicles an hour at the peak. He stated as a
condition of approval: If vehicle stacking for the oil change/lube facility becomes an
issue, as determined by city staff, by blocking egress to the north, then measures shall be
taken to address the issue.

Pung stated staff also requested information on the noise generated by the carwash and
the vacuum. The information was provided by the applicant. He stated based on the
information they provided noise generated by either the carwash or the vacuums should
not be an issue, but also as a condition of approval if it does become a detriment then
measures will need to be taken to address those problems.



Proposed Minutes
Planning Commission
October 24, 2023

Page 7

Pung stated he is recommending conditional approval of the special land use and site plan
review as described in his memos dated October 19, 2023.

Andrew Rossell, with AR Engineering was present. He stated 15 of the Drive and Shine
carwashes are adjacent to residential and they haven’t received any complaints. He stated

they have had studies by a third party and the vacuum sound level is about the same as a
busy road.

Jones opened the public hearing.
There was no public comment.
Motion by Benoit, supported by Poyner, to close the public hearing.

- Motion Carried (8-0) —
- Weir absent —

Poyner stated the hours of operations is helpful with the noise. He questioned if a resident
reported a noise issue, what is the process. Pung stated staff would go out to the site for a
while and see if we can hear it and from there staff can go forward with enforcement.

VanderMeer questioned the drainage. Rossell stated there is an existing storm water
basin. The parking lot was completely paved with catch basins throughout the middle of
the parking lots. Rosell stated they are reducing the impervious cover but they do have

some things to go through as far as verifying some storm calculations with the City
Engineer.

Holtrop questioned if there were vacuums in the front. Rosell stated there are 10 vacuum
spaces to the east and the vacuum canisters are all stainless steel. Holtrop questioned if
there was anything reserved to the west for future use of vacuums. Rossell stated they
would have to come back if they wanted more. Holtrop stated at the work session there
was discussion about the pavement being removed. Pung stated they don’t want to
remove pavement anymore, that is why there were conditions assigned. Andrew stated he
thinks they decided to keep the pavement because of the cost of removing.

Porter questioned whether the vacuums are available 24/7. Rossell stated no, they are
only operational during business hours. Porter questioned where the wash water goes.
Rosell stated they have a three tank system 80% is recycled and the rest is discharged to
the sanitary sewer. Porter questioned was the sewer large enough for the water. Andrew
stated yes with the small amount that is released. Andres stated they are still working
with the City Engineer on the utility connections.

Jones questioned if there were other Drive and Shine’s in the area. Rosell stated there are
3 in Kalamazoo and the rest are in Indiana.



Proposed Minutes
Planning Commission
October 24, 2023

Page 8

Motion by Holtop, supported by Quinn, to grant conditional approval of the special
land use vehicle wash establishment as described in Case 27-23. The approval is
conditioned on conditions 1 — 8 and basis points 1 — 7as described in Pung’s memo
dated October 19, 2023.

- Motion Carried (8-0) —

- Weir absent -

Motion by Holtrop, supported by Quinn, to grant conditional approval of the site
plan September 18, 2023, as described in Case 27-23. Approval is conditioned on
conditions 1 —11 and basis points 1 —9 as described in Pung’s memo dated October
19,2023.

- Motion Carried (8-0) -
- Weir absent -

Work Session

Case# 28-23 - DAMA Ventures LLC — Special Land Use Indoor Vehicle Sales and Site
Plan Review — Located within Phase A of 3350 Broadmoor Avenue, zoned I-1 Light
Industrial

Pung stated the request is for special land use and site plan review for indoor vehicle

sales within the industrial district. He stated in 2012 the zoning ordinance was amended
to allow for limited indoor vehicle sales within industrial districts subject to a special land
use review. He stated that they are looking at utilizing about 3,900 square feet within an
existing 15,000 square foot building. That would be the vehicle sales operation and
storage. He stated it would be approximately 8 vehicles that they will be able to park
indoors. He stated as indicated in their statement all activity would occur within the
building.

Pung stated they indicated that there will be no open air display or storage and also there
is no on site vehicle repair or maintenance on site. He stated the only thing they would be
adding is an overhead door to the east side of the building to allow for vehicular access
into the building. He stated based on all the information, the applicant answered all the
questions from the general special land use standards and the site specific standards and
based on that it looks like they comply with all the special land use standards. He stated
there were no real issues with the request. ’

Ken Dixon, with Dixon architecture was present. He stated he is representing the
applicant Marcko. He stated Marcko runs a transportation company he is shipping things
in the US and-all the vehicles come back empty. He saw an opportunity where he can
pick up cars in areas where the vehicles are less expensive than what they are here in the -
West Michigan area then bring them back a maximum of 8 cars.



Proposed Minutes
Planning Commission
October 24, 2023

Page 9

Dixon stated the request does not represent much site impact. They are adding garage
doors to allow the vehicles to enter into the building. That will eliminate two parking
stalls. He stated his operation doesn’t require any parking. There will not be any outdoor
storage of any of the vehicles. He is not going to use the parking lot for any vehicles that
don’t go to auction. Everything that comes to the site will be put inside the building. The
hours of operation are Monday-Friday 9am-5pm. He doesn’t expect a lot of traffic. Most
of his cars will be listed online. Then if you are interested you can stop by between 9am-
Spm or set up an appointment to see the vehicles.

Porter questioned if this will be staffed. Dixon stated 2 employees will be staffed at this
location. Porter questioned if the space is suitable to have fuel and oil in them while
stored inside. Pung stated the Fire Marshall and Inspector has been part of the discussion

there are restrictions they are allowed to have a limited amount of gas and it must be
sprinkled.

Kape, Quinn, Poyner were ok with the request

Holtrop stated his concern is that there will end up being cars outside. Dixon stated this
isn’t his primary business he just sees an opportunity to pick up cars.

Benoit questioned if there was any concern about taking industrial space. Pung stated this

is a use that is allowed within our industrial district as a special land use.

Jones noted no vehicle repair or maintenance will occur on site. She questioned if there
will be any prep or detailing work that would need to be done will that take place there.
Dixon stated by the zoning ordinance it would have to take place somewhere else.

New Business

Motion by Holtrop, supported by Poyner, to set a public hearing date of November
28, 2023 for: Case##29-23 — GRR Ancillary — Rezoning of 10.57 acres of land from I-
1 Industrial to C-PUD Commercial Planned Unit Development and Preliminary Site
Plan Review located at the NW corner of 36! Street and Patterson Avenue

- Motion Carried (8-0) —
- Weir absent -
Other Business

1. Commissioners’ Comments

VanderMeer stated Dykstra’s Auto at 44" Street and Patterson Avenue had 7 cars parked
outside on the east side of the site. Porter stated he also noticed a Boris Head delivery
truck.

Holtrop stated he noticed more street trees along 52 Street and thanked Pung.



Proposed Minutes
Planning Commission
October 24, 2023
Page 10

Porter stated there is another lot that have several cars everywhere. Service Professor
along Patterson Avenue at 50 Street has all of their service vehicles on the front parking
lot.

Quinn stated Tuffy 44" and Kalamazoo needs to be cleaned up, there are cars everywhere

Jones questioned the status of Thomsons Auto, Schweitzer stated the 62- B District Court
Judge recused herself and the court staff is working to get it reviewd by another District
Court Judge

Jones stated the she attended the October 17 COW meeting along with Kape and she
described the discussion about the zoning ordinance related to housing. He stated we will
reconvene and meet with the City Commission again, their were concerns about diluting
the ordinances.

2. Staff’s Comments
Staff offered no additional comments.
M. Adjournment
Motion by Commissioner Benoir, supported by Commissioner Quinn, to adjourn
the meeting.
- Motion Carried (8-0) —
- Weir absent -
Meeting adjourned at 8:30pm

Respectfully submitted,

Ed Kape, Secretary









. The Special Land Use Standards outlined in Section 15.02 require that
the use not include any uses, activities, processes, materials, and
equipment or conditions of operation that will be detrimental to any
persons, property or the general welfare by reason of excessive
production of traffic, noise, etc. The hotel is located in an Office zone
with residential uses to the south. The noise policy will ensure that
noise will not be an issue for the neighboring properties.

. The hotel must be kept in good operating condition to minimize
complaints and requests for city services.

. The addition of security cameras for the hotel will ensure the safety of
guests in the common areas of the hotel and in the outdoor perimeter
of the property.

. The property is zoned for Office use, which allows for hotels with
Special Land Use approval. A total of 24 rooms are proposed. The use
will not generate significant amounts of traffic and will be screened
from view of the neighboring properties. Landscaping and fencing

have been proposed along the south lot line to screen the residence to
the south.

. A hotel generates relatively little traffic when compared to other

commercial/office uses that are permitted by right in the C-4 Office
District.

. Discussion at the work session and public hearing.












. The final landscaping must be reviewed to ensure that it meets the
requirements of Chapter 19 of the Zoning Ordinance and provides
adequate visibility from the public street. The plan must also be
reviewed from a safety standpoint to ensure that all areas of the site
meet the lighting uniformity standards of Chapter 20 of the Zoning
Ordinance.

. The applicant has proposed the mitigation of wetlands area that must
be approved by EGLE.

. The site plan indicates the easement with the adjacent property as a
proposed, rather than an existing easement.

. The plan otherwise meets the Special Land Use Standards of Section
15.02 and 15.04BB of the Zoning Ordinance.

. Discussion during work session and public hearing.






BASIS:

The final landscaping must be reviewed to ensure that it meets the
requirements of Chapter 19 of the Zoning Ordinance and provides
adequate visibility from the public street. The plan must also be
reviewed from a safety standpoint to ensure that all areas of the site
meet the lighting uniformity standards of Chapter 20 of the Zoning
Ordinance.

The site plan indicates the easement with the adjacent property as a
proposed, rather than an existing easement.

. The building elevation must meet the materials requirements of

Section 8.03 2 of the Zoning Ordinance. The signage proposed for the
proposed building elevations does not meet the requirements of the
Kentwood Zoning Ordinance

Approval of the Special Land Use drive through for Biggby.

Discussion during work session and public hearing.






Case 27-23 Findings of Fact

Page 2
creates a nuisance or is otherwise a detriment to adjacent property
or the surrounding neighborhood.
7. The three (3) parcels (3277, 3311 & 3343 Woodland Drive) shall be
combined.
8. Staff review and approval of a landscape plan.
9. Staff review and approval of an exterior photometric plan consistent
with current Zoning Ordinance requirements.
10.  Compliance with all applicable standards and requirements of the
Kentwood Engineering Department.
I1. Compliance with all applicable standards and requirements of the
Kentwood Fire Department.
BASIS: 1. The use is a special land use in the C2 Community Commercial

district and as such is compatible with the current zoning of the
property and the Master Plan recommendation for commercial
development of the site.

2. Section 8.03.B of the Zoning Ordinance requires a rear yard setback
of 30 feet (the rear yard building setback is two (2) feet), Section
19.03.C requires a 10-foot buffer zone adjacent to the office zone to
the north (no on-site buffer zone is provided).

The Zoning Board of Appeals approved variances (Case V-23-10)
in February of this year for a reduction of 28 feet to the required
rear yard setback and waiver to the required 10-foot buffer zone
adjacent to the office use to the north. A condition of the approval
was that a permanent landscape easement was to be created on the
adjacent property to the north.

3. A permanent egress easement is required to ensure that access to
East Beltline Avenue remains accessible for the site in the event
property ownership changes, etc.

4, The applicant has indicated that the oil change operation would see
less than three (3) cars per hour which will not produce a wait
outside of the service bays.

5. The applicant wishes to retain the western portion of the exiting
pavement. To prevent the area from becoming a nuisance or
detriment to the area, parking and storage are prohibited in this area,
and it shall be maintained to prevent it from becoming a nuisance or
detriment. The pavement will need to be removed if it does become



Case 27-23 Findings of Fact
Page 3

a nuisance or detriment. Section 15.04.F.11 states that a vehicle
wash establishment building, and its accessory uses and buildings
shall be located not less than one hundred (100) feet from any right-
of-way line or from any side or rear lot line abutting a residential
district. The building is setback eighty-seven (87) feet from the
adjacent residential property to the northwest; a variance (Case V-

23-01) was granted allowing for the reduced setback from the
residential property.

The site plan otherwise meets the requirements of the Kentwood
Zoning Ordinance.

Representations by the applicant at the work session and public
hearing.

Discussion at the work session and public hearing.












Case 27-23 Findings of Fact
Page 2

BASIS: 1.

Compliance with all applicable standards and requirements of
the Kentwood Engineering Department.

Compliance with all applicable standards and requifements of
the Kentwood Fire Department.

The use is a special land use in the C2 Community Commercial
district and as such is compatible with the current zoning of the
property and the Master Plan recommendation for commercial
development of the site.

A permanent egress easement is required to ensure that egress
remains accessible for the site in the event property ownership
changes, etc.

Based on the information provided by the applicant for sound
generated by the outdoor vacuums and interior drying system
(see Exhibit 2 and Exhibit 3), the use is not anticipated to have
a substantial and adverse impact on neighboring property nor
create any type of blight within the area.

The applicant has indicated that the oil change operation would
see less than three (3) cars per hour which will not produce a
wait outside of the service bays.

Section 15.04.F.11 states that a vehicle wash establishment
building, and its accessory uses and buildings shall be located
not less than one hundred (100) feet from any right-of-way line
or from any side or rear lot line abutting a residential district.
The building is setback eighty-seven (87) feet from the adjacent
residential property to the northwest; a variance (Case V-23-01)
was granted allowing for the reduced setback from the
residential property.

Representations by the applicant at the work session and public
hearing.

Discussion at the work session and public hearing






Case 27-23 Findings of Fact
Page 4

Exhibit 2: Automotive Drying System Sound Levels

INDUSTRIAL INC.

FAST, DEPENDABLE SALES & SERVICE

P.0. BOX 295 BETHEL PARK, PA 15102 PHONE (412) 833-0118 FAX (412) 6337027

|

REF: Aerotherm Automotive Drying System

SLG Industrial the exclusive manufacturer of the Aerotherm Automotive Drylng System, our dryers are
designed with the Intent to minirnize nolse levels, while maximizing drying efficlancy. These dryers
praduce only 82 declbels of noise at 5 of distance from the output nozzle,

To minimlze nolse impact to nelghboring propertles, we recommend that the dryers be Installed Inside
the buliding- not outside, When mounted Inside a masonry, the naise laval outside the bullding Is
Insignificant compared to avarage traffic nolse, Hera are some nolse level measurements when dryers
are mounted Inslde an 8 masonry block bullding:

- At50"of distance directly forward of the exit of the dryers, the nolse level Is 63 declbels

- At100 of distance directly forward of the exit of the dryers, the noise level is 58 dacibels

- At100° of distance and pergendicular to the carwash exit, the nolse level Is at only 54 dedbels
- At100' of distance and perpendicular to the cerwash exit, the nolse level Is 2t only 45 decibels

Prosident

Walter E. Gregg

O]




Case 27-23 Findings of Fact

Page 5

Exhibit 3: Vacuum Sound Levels

SOUND LEVEL METER READINGS

MODEL; FT-DD-T340HP4 (40hp VACSTAR TURBINE VACUUM PRODLICER}

READING ONE: 43 DB-A, 3 FEET FROM CORNER OF ENCLOSURE @ 45° ANGLE
AND NO BACKGROUND NOISE OR OUTSIDE INTERFERENCE,

READING TWO: 36 DB-A, 10 FEET FROM CORNER OF ENCLOSURE @ 45° ANGLE
AND NO BACKGROUND NOISE OR OUTSIDE INTERFERENCE,

READING THREE: 24 DB-A, 20 FEET FROM CORNER OF ENCLOSURE @ 45° ANGLE
AND NO BACKGROUND NOISE OR QUTSIDE INTERFERENCE.

READING FOUR: 12 DB-A, 30 FEET FROM CORNER OF ENCLOSURE @ 45° ANGLE
AND NO BACKGROUND NOISE OR OUTSIDE INTERFERENCE.

NOTE: THESE READINGS WERE TAKEN OUTSIDE OF 8'x10°x8’ CINDER BLOCK ENCLOSURE WITH 4 WALLS
4-0 DOOR AND CONCRETE SLAB WITH NO ROOF,

)

SOUND LEVEL METER USED:

SIMPSON MODEL #40003 ~ MSHA APPROVED.
MEETS OSHA & WALSH-HEALY REQUIREMENTS FOR NOISE CONTROL.
CONFORMS TO ANSI $1.4-1983, IEC 651 SPECS FOR METER TYPE,

Vacutech
1350 Hi-Tech Drive, Sheridun WY, 82801
PHONE: (800) 917-9444 FAX: (303) 675-1988
EMAIL: info@vacutechlic
WEB SITE: vacutechllic.com







Case 28-23 Special Land Use Recommendation

Page 2

The use is not anticipated to have a substantial and adverse
impact on neighboring property nor create any type of blight
within the area.

Representations by the applicant and applicant’s representative
at the work session and public hearing.

Discussion at the work session and public hearing



Pece e J 10-03-2083

City of Kentwood Planning Commissioners,

| am the owner of the building located at 3350 Broadmoor Avenue SE. This is the site of the
former Spectrum Health Services clinic. At this time, | am considering a small renovation which
will allow me to provide indoor vehicle sales in the northeast portion of the building. The small
sales area (which will only accommodate 8 cars at full capacity) will focus on the resale of used

vehicles via internet sales with standard working hours Monday through Friday from 9am to
5pm.

In discussions with the Kentwood Planner, | learned that indoor vehicle sales is only allowable
in this zoning district when approved by the Planning Commission as a Special Land Use. |
have had drawings prepared by my Architect to clearly demonstrate the intent of this business.
I’'m also providing this narrative to clarify the limited impacts of the proposed use.

Per City of Kentwood Zoning Ordinance 15.02, The proposed special land use and its location
shall:

A. Be designed, constructed, operated and maintained so as to be harmonious and
appropriate in appearance, with the existing or intended character of the general vicinity
and that a use will not change the essential character of the area in which it is proposed.

Response: The proposed addition of the indoor vehicle showroom shall be compatible

and harmonious with the general vicinity. The use is a low impact operation which will

not detract from the character of the area.

B. Be served adequately by essential public facilities and services such as highways, streets,
police and fire protection, drainage structures, refuse disposal, water and sewage facilities
or schools.

Response: The existing building is adequately served by public facilities. The proposed

indoor vehicle sales activities shall not have any detrimental affect on those existing

facilities.

C. Not create excessive additional requirements at public cost for public facilities and
services.

Response: The proposed indoor vehicle sales use shall not create any excessive

additional requirements at public cost for public facilities and services.

D. Not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, and equipment or conditions of operation
that will be detrimental to any persons, property, or the general welfare by reason of
excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare, electrical or electromagnetic
interference or odors.

Response: The proposed indoor vehicle sales use is a low impact operation which will

not negatively affect the surrounding area. Other than the limited traffic created by staff

and customers visiting the site, no other activities will occur on-site which would result in

excessive traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare, electrical or electromagnetic interference
or odors.

E. Be compatible and in accordance with the goals, objectives and policies of the master plan

and promote the intent and purpose of the zoning district in which it is proposed to locate.
Response: The proposed indoor vehicle sales shall be compatible with the Kentwood
master plan and support the purpose and intent of the overlaying zoning district.



F  Be subject to stipulations by the Planning Commission of additional conditions and

_safeguards deemed-necessary-for the general-welfare, for-the-protection ofindividual . .

property rights, and for insuring that the intent and objectives of this ordinance wili be
observed. The breach of any condition, safeguard, or requirement shall automatically
invalidate the granting of the special land use.

Response: The proposed indoor vehicle sales shall be subject to the conditions of the
Kentwood Planning Commission which they deem necessary.

G. Comply with all applicable licensing ordinances.

Response: The proposed indoor vehicle sales will comply with all applicable licensing
ordinances.

In addition, per City of Kentwood Zoning Ordinance 15.04, The following subparagraph
identifies specific requirements that shall be complied with by the individual special land use:

HH. Indoor vehicle sales in industrial.

1. All activities to occur within the enclosed building.

Response: All the proposed vehicle sales shall occur within the showroom. No outdoor
sales of vehicles is proposed.

2. No open-air display or storage of inventory.
Response: No open-air display or storage of inventory is proposed.

3. No vehicle repair or maintenance to occur on-site.

Response: There are no vehicle repair or maintenance activities proposed to occur on-
site.

4. \Vehicle display and/or storage area limited to 5,000 sqft.
Response: The vehicle showroom and supporting storage rooms are 3,984 sqft.

Thank you for your time and consideration of this exciting business venture.

Sincerely,

Marko Franovic

Enclosures:

-Special Land Use Application
-Application Fee

-15 copies of drawings (24"x36")






Staff Recommendation
Case 28-23
Page 2

The proposed use is not anticipated to have a substantial and
adverse impact on neighboring property nor create any type of
blight within the area.

The site plan otherwise meets the requirements of the Kentwood
Zoning Ordinance.

Representations of the applicant and applicant’s representative at the
work session and public hearing.

Discussion at the work session and public hearing.






b/

A

ARCHITECTURE

523 Ada Drive SE, Suite 200
PO Box 404
Ada, Mi 49301
p. (616) 682-4570

www.dixonarch.com

. ) L. . - AT AT e T . . : . ’ ’ .

. ..~.__. _.' -~ ~ . \? \\w.“‘—' * “—..‘"%.__,.‘ e~ 2 . T "%-q... .",,_ ' - : .——N.,._N‘YO’/' — A ST .
' P - o 6504 28th Street Southeast Suite )
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49546
p. (616) 777-1844

- B E . : . = i — . o s e . T ‘.. 2 .
.v’_——‘w ‘mb‘.\ . . ‘-. "V.S\N——'«—.—"" o '706"" —————. ’ ’ GI‘S L’b{E

. con T 2
..,..:'-.,-;——»*--".“*""‘-'6'34;76. |

https://sbstransportiic.com

DCl

DYKHOUSE CONSTRUCTION INC

PHONE 510872 0184 Fax 816 872 0740

www.DykhouseConstruction.co

o

Y23 AYYLINYS |, pZ |

A
AL f‘u \

Q.

p 34
p—
..

£L'(.:Z$

-y

=
Y

e M, -}-',}f:w- %

«sar\*;:.

Existing
Building

s Ui,

-

~Q.
=l

WA

‘ .
»n . .
| .
7 - .
, |

Grand Rapids, Michigan

Proposed Site Plan

-

3350 Broadmoor Avenue SE

DAMA Ventures SLU

ce e

KA AIR Y Vo]

.
SEEIEN GIEXD SOMRP CINLIP GREIS YFAND ATy O,
5 . o
. . . L . ‘. .
. e s . :_ .
ol .. e '. .

- b - e . e . . PN
- t . e - N . LI . ., . .. L e PR -
N SN . . . . . . L . . .
.b
. $. . . R '. ' . . .
L. . . . . . . . . . . . . M N
0 ' * . . Lt . . . : ‘L . * LY . . . » . .
] . N - .7 < . .. . "
- o mmmmmmLOA mvumm“mmmw N . e .
R : . . . .. AR . T . N - L ] . . . . . . .
., . . . . O . . . ' . :
£ . T, . . . . . .« o, . .. .’ .

e TR RS LS 8
» . .. .
. »

NYINSILYM ;;9';\'\‘;.. R T

. RN SN "‘. N".'\" . ‘ga";:’- '
™ NDEPDRNXJI o} I:’
:‘-f,f';f [ 1 : :} / \’ PARKING Revisions:
S M Bt L e : Bid Set: 06/20/23
SLU Submit: 9/26/23

. e

.- A A e

: ""-:b.: . i

Vr )0/ »3' J ISP o
.... /0;‘*-”‘ M‘:-": *‘A"l“~ Ay

PROP: 288 —-18"
C SOUAT- 0,33

p- 'M' aﬂ-:tui......ﬁ“‘“" ”aa’-"

ae . L. - -~ p J »
. .
- - BN . . ’
g - -
- - . ’
. L AR R RN 7Tt -’
o ) A . ey e e R
- - teeT 4 A
' 4 R R A R ~ 7
Lo - R R SR S L. D - 1,
. ',' . s L LRI Pt . S
RN 2, e PRl SES .
A i TN, . .
B . -

Project No: __223008

Issue Date: 9/26/23

4 .n-‘.aan ' . w
U; L
. \::-, ) / e Reviewer: KCD
B D Drawn By: KCD

A1.1

" "."/,"7 |
| ExTerd

I o d e

§ .. ..
0
m@

T L e s'(No SUBbASE
LS THRU ISLAND

223008 A11 A20 A21 A31 A32 A41 Plans SB27/23, 1:57 PM

©2023 Dixon Environmental Architecture, Inc.



i /f \\‘ //’“\\
{9y §
General Notes | (D
L | | ;
1. UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE. ALL NON-LOAD BEARING INTERIOR PARTITION WALLS SHALL BE % | /
CONSTRUCTED OF STEEL STUDS W/ SOUND ATTENUATION BATTS AND 5/8" GYPSUM BOARD EACH SIDE. i ' (
PROVIDE GYPSUM BOARD CONTROL JOINTS @ 30™-0" O.C. I !
REFER TO WALL TYPES AND EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS FOR ALL EXTERIOR WALL MATERIALS. I ‘
3. ALL WOOD FRAMING THAT COMES IN CONTACT WITH DISSIMILAR MATERIAL SHALL BE TREATED TO RESIST | — = — — S~
DECAY AND/OR HAVE A BARRIER TO PREVENT MOISTURE TRANSMISSION. _ e e | - - 7.1
S N
4. ALL METAL TO METAL CONNECTIONS SHALL BE SUCH AS TO AVOID DISSIMILAR METAL GALVANIC <
CORROSION.
5. FLOOR DRAINS, UNLESS REQUIRED OTHERWISE, SET ALL FLOOR DRAINS 1/2" BELOW FLOOR LINE AND H
PITCH FROM 24" RADIUS !
6. UNLESS INDICATED OTHERWISE, FLOOR MATERIAL CHANGES SHALL OCCUR BENEATH DOORS OR o ARCHITECTURE
7. GYPSUM BOARD PARTITION SYSTEMS: o ; 523 Adapgrg’s sibi“'te 200
A) EXTEND STUDS ABOVE CEILINGS TO BOTTOM OF STRUCTURE AND ANCHOR FIRMLY, z /HE X
USING SAME STUD SIZE AND SPACING. < Ada, Ml 49301
B) STUDS SHALL BE SPACED AT 16" O.C. UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE. < p. (616) 6824570
C) GYPSUM BOARD SHALL EXTEND TO STRUCTURE OR RATED ASSEMBLY. s g —
D) ALL INTERIOR STUD PARTITIONS SHALL HAVE GYPSUM BOARD ON EACH SIDE. I | - - AR - - - 6.3 www.dixonarch.com
E) WHERE SOUND BATT INSULATION IS REQUIRED PROVIDE UNFACED NOISE BARRIER BATT — Z TR ’ :
INSULATION TO FRICTION FIT IN STUD PARTITION FROM FLOOR TO UNDERSIDE OF STRUCTURE. 4
8. WHERE OPENINGS IN INTERIOR PARTITIONS OCCUR (INCLUDING DOORS AND WINDOWS), CONSTRUCTON ’ Ci office #1 ‘N
ABOVE OPENINGS SHALL MATCH ADJACENT CONSTRUCTION IN FINISH AND FIRE RATING. | 481 N
9. PROVIDE DEFLECTION TRACK OR SIMILAR ASSEMBLY THAT WILL ALLOW FOR MINIMUM 1" DEFLECTION AT Y ! i |
TOP OF ALL INTERIOR STUD WALLS THAT EXTEND TO THE STRUCTURE. N :
CREDARD ' ' 504 28
CREZED A ) ; % S 6504 28th Street Southeast Suite |
Wall Types Legend Tl T | | @ S Grand Rapids, Michigan 49546
1. ; . p. (616) 777-1844
N . : ! ?
FIRE RESISTANCE RATING WALL INSULATION . e N
- NONE A SOUND ATTENUATION ©- e PROP oAﬁaE:?gaﬁsﬁT odel A ! - hetps://sbstransportlic.com
1 1 HOUR T THERMAL | ieens : -3, 5
2 2HOUR - NONE . T - |
2 2 nggg >A A | Vehicle Showroom |
l"" X WALL STUD & FINISH HEIGHT — | ? 150
WALL COMPOSITION E EXTERIOR, SEE SECTIONS . ’ '
NUMBER -EXTERIOR WALL TYPE X SHAFT, SEE SECTIONS e - £73 ]
LETTER -INTERIOR WALL TYPE S BOTTOM OF STRUCTURE - —l - ¥ - - ——— S e - - 53
c EXTEND 6" ABOVE CEILING ywy Work Rm} A
STUD SIZE O  OTHER, SEE WALL TYPE : 315 152 |
1 1 5/8" METAL STUD #  TOP OF WALL IN INCHES : é
2 2 1/2" METAL STUD R UNDERSIDE OF ROOF DECK ; ‘ i :
3 35/8» METAL STUD Mg k - DYKHOUSE CONSTRUCTION |NC
4 4" METAL STUD CONCRETE WALL THICKNESS } s iR e
5 2x4 WOOD STUD A 4" NOMINAL BLOCK/ 4" CONC — e ;
6 6" METAL STUD B 6" NOMINAL BLOCK/ 6" CONC P i
7 2x6 WOOD STUD Cc 8" NOMINAL BLOCK/ 8" CONC /e f
8 2x8 WOOD STUD D 10" NOMINAL BLOCK/ 10" CONC e ;
9 2x10 WOOD STUD E 12" NOMINAL BLOCK/ 12" CONC N ! © www DykhouseConstruction.com
o OTHER: SEE WALL TYPES F 14" REINFORCED CONCRETE /7 , B -
. (TN ~ . <
N Storage 7 . i &
::s 3 1!53 \\:\‘\v ~ . / £
{2 N
Wall Types nrerior - penotep wim LETTERS) Floor Plan Key Notes ot ai keynotes appear on each ficor pian) - N\ %
ARIE (0 NOT USED \/ i
WALLTAGS" @) NOT USED o | e——— e , I 7| R i 7:\;
” N
T () NOTUSED \ i
,
\ EXISTING STRUCTURAL COLUMNS, VERIFY STRUCTURAL SIZING AND LOCATIONS IN FIELD. ALL : ; : : s e
T——>5/8" GYPSUM BOARD - @ STRUCTURAL ITEMS TO BE RETAINED DURING ALL STAGES OF DEMOLITION AND CONSTRUCTION. N | 1 . 7 E
MOISTURE RESISTANT AT _ , i _ !
WET WALLS OF RESTROOMS. @ NOT USED i i O Ly, .- g ] . 1904 i
Ex Mens Lockers L J e 156 =
H—METAL STUD FRAMING (3-5/8" (®) DEMO EXISTING WALL TO PROVIDE ACCESS FOR NEW DOORWAY, DEMOLITION SHALL ONLY BE IN 154 Ex Wmns Lockers - H L61S e B 5 : -
I TYPICAL, REFER TO WALL THE EXTENTS AS NEEDED FOR THE NEW DOOR AND SHALL MAINTAIN THE SAME FINISH AS ) ne | _— = | 2
{  TAGS) - FILL CAVITY W/ PREVIOUSLY CONSTRUCTION WHEN FINISHED. , : ~ I | | )
i SOUND ATTENUATION BATT o K S T ; S N R 1 _ 7 W —
INSULATION WHERE NOTED. (D) NOT USED 3 ! A | o 9N n.
| , T b So=m / o - © S
I3 ; | : ) e - = .
- 5/8" GYPSUM BOARD - NOT USED p—rt - n : e m— . ——+ = iy A g 2 8
MOISTURE RESISTANT AT @) NoTusED . : ® Dss O
WET WALLS OF RESTROOMS. > | T N S8 o
{9 DEMO EXISTING DOOR AND DOOR FRAME AND INFILL VOID WITH STUD FRAMING AND FINISH AS : U TEX N < S
A APPLICABLE TO PROVIDE SMOOTH TRANSITION FROM EXISTING TO INFILL. : I8 © 5a W
v L i ]
INT.  _INT. @ wor useo [ ‘ g S o]
{2 CONFIRM EXISTING PLUMBING FIXTURES MEET ADA CLEARANCE DIMENSIONS; REFER TO ¥ | S 5? o
TYPICAL NON FIRE RATED ENLARGED RESTROOM PLANS. > B . | o > ©
INTERIOR PARTITION WALL; SEE - : = ] e - - (B) Sv O
WALL TAG FOR STUD SIZING 1 e : = T T Ty = q Q@ S 3
i y . \4 \Q /\ 8 L
| = o
| ™ O
VARIES AR ,
e FUTURE Remodel B S &
Ao - TO WORK PROPOSED .
- ‘ Area: 2,075 Sq ft i L
He TWO LAYERS OF 5/8" a 1
GYPSUM BOARD - MOISTURE L]
RESISTANT AT WET WALLS
OF RESTROOMS.
RESILIENT CHANNEL PER UL . 5
DESIGN U453 , >
| 0
H—METAL STUD FRAMING (3-5/8" | 4.1
TYPICAL, REFER TO WALL .
TAGS) - FILL CAVITY W/ L
SOUND ATTENUATION BATT '
INSULATION. , g
—5/8" GYPSUM BOARD - o
MOISTURE RESISTANT AT .
WET WALLS OF RESTROOMS. B
| B SN A Revisions:
INT. INT. == e e ‘ ! e A S S M Bid Set: 06/20/23
TYPICAL NON-RATED ACOUSTICAL ' N [y ; BN it
(B) INTERIOR PARTITION WaLL (SEE ENLARGED N : | E) SLU Submit: 9/26/23
PLAN FOR LOCATIONS) UL DESIGN U453, i | .
ASSEMBLY TO REACH STC OF 55 MIN; STUD N . |
SIZE PER WALL TAG. T .
v i o b
oL ’ ; i L i
L .
L Project No: _ 223008
T
Y Issue Date: _ 9/26/23
i | ‘: .
e S —— e T L R B S e T R Reviewer: KCD
— | =it e e e EE} f T e — B I B - i»_i >*m“\\i/'
T o AN Drawn By: LPW/KCD
H kY 7 y
_________________________________ e o U e ol i Il S P - 1 i | e
15-0 2-0" 20 50" 2-0"1 3.0 20 ] S T L - -
722 j Ny
e SN SN AN FEN AN A 7S IIN AN
(9) (8)(7)(8) (5) (4 (3 (2 AT
S NN “E/f N AN AN ‘\J/' “1;1/"

N
1. Proposed Main Floor Plan WALL DESIGNATION (Reproduce in Color) A 2 " 1

SCALE: 3/16" = 1"-0" [y | | — —
IMPROVEMENT FLR AREA: 2,137 SQ FT o > @ g NEW PROPOSED WALLS STRUCTURAL ITEMS EXISTING MASONRY WALLS

223008 A11 A20 A21 A31 A32 A41 Plans SLU  9/27/23, 1:57 PM

a)y

©2023 Dixon Environmental Architecture, Inc.



ARCHITECTURE

523 Ada Drive SE, Suite 200
PO Box 404
Ada, MI 49301
p- (616) 682-4570

www.dixonarch.com

6504 28th Street Southeast Suite |
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49546
p- (616) 777-1844

https://sbstransportlic.com

DCi

DYKHOUSE CONSTRUCTION INC

NN //‘\‘ /,\\ ; /\_\’ N /‘""\\\ AT www.DykhouseConstruction.com
OlG 20 B A 83
' .
k\\ 2 o | |
I § !
! ,
| i ]
+117'-10" ELEV. ! ‘ ‘
T.0. ROOF ‘ : ‘
% Z
7 % 7 /)]
// % g
4 % 7
+110-10" ELEV. - = =
T T.0. CANOPY ¢ Z 7 S
4 7z 7z q g
7 7 W
% 7 7 No. o
7 7 0w sS '-T.l
, , , D S
O ) SI= 0O
% z /% w s g
A Z : g g w
4 % 7 QDS =
+100-0" ELEV. N RC X
— FLOOR FINISH $ ! ! | S o lu
b P P | | ¢ QS
K B 3 | ‘ 86 O
I L S————— oS — . — S — S — S50 3
:._.L_}._-_: ____________________________ S P L-,-{-—------_--—--—--------—-—--—--—--—————§ ------------------------------------ b e e e e ™
' ] -g ! P H i < m
! i P . Q °
- . . o
2. East Elevation Exterior Materials Legend (ALL SELECTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED "BASIS OF DESIGN") [
SCALE: 3/16" = 1'-0" Moo LABEL MATERIAL MANUFACTURER|STYLE COLOR Q
0' 2! 4! 8'
ALUMINUM STOREFRONT SYSTEM TUBELITE OR EQ.{TBD BLACK FOR PRICING 4 Made in
GLASS OVERHEAD DOOR TBD TBD BLACK FOR PRICING ‘ Michigan
Revisions:

Bid Set: 06/20/23
SLU Submit: 9/26/23

Project No: __ 223008
Issue Date: 9/26/23

Reviewer: KCD

Drawn By: LPW/KCD

A4.1

223008 A11 A20 A21 A31 A32 A41 Plans SLU

©2023 Dixon Environmental Architecture, Inc.






STAFF REPORT

" October 5, 2023

PREPARED FOR: Kentwood Planning Commission

PREPARED BY: Terry Schweitzer
CASE NO.: 25-23 Master Plan Amendment NE Quadrant 52 St and M-37
GENERAL INFORMATION
APPLICANT: Andrew Anderson
2465 Cascade Springs Drive, SE
Grand Rapids, MI 49546
APPLICANT
REPRESENTATIVE: Andrew Anderson
STATUS OF
APPLICANT: Petitioner by Way of Buy and Sell Agreement
REQUESTED ACTION:  Amend Master Plan Designation from Industrial to Commercial
EXISTING ZONING OF
SUBJECT PARCEL: I-1 Light Industrial
GENERAL LOCATION:  Northeast Quadrant of 52 Street and Broadmoor Avenue (M-37)
PARCEL SIZE: 7 acres
EXISTING LAND USE
ON THE PARCEL: Vacant
ADJACENT AREA
LAND USE: N- Office
S~ Industrial Office/Warehouse
E-Railroad Spur/Industrial Truck Terminal/Manufacturer
W- Commercial Gas Station Convenience Store/Drive Through
Restaurant
ZONING ON ADJOINING
PARCELS: All adjoining properties are zoned I-1 Light Industnal except for

Proposal Overview:

CPUD to the West

The applicant, Andrew Anderson, has submitted a narrative dated 5/1/2023 as well as conceptual
floor and site plans to build a pickleball and Wiffleball restaurant and recreational sports courts

~ on properties addressed 5080, 5090, 5140 Broadmoor Avenue, SE and 4581 5214 Street, SE. The

restaurant use would be perm1331b16 under the current I-1 Light Industrial zoning, subject to
Special Land Use and Site Plan review and approval by the Planning Commission. Retail as

1|Page Case #25- 23 Anderson I\/laster Plan Change Request




well as indoor and outdoor recreational uses are not permitted under the I-1 Light Industrial
zoning.

Compatibility with Master Plan:
The Kentwood Master Plan designation for this site is industrial use. The proposed combination
of uses is commercial in nature, thus the request to change the current land use designation.

Relevant Zoning Ordinance Sections:
Chapter 8 contains the Commercial/Office Districts. Chapter 10 contains the Industrial Districts.

Streets and Traffic

Broadmoor Avenue is a state trunkline, M-37, and across the frontage of the site it is a four-lane
boulevard within a 205-foot-wide public right-of-way. The 527 Street frontage is a five-lane
arterial roadway within an 83-100-foot-wide public right-of-way. No direct left turns are allowed
at the intersection as well as along the Broadmoor frontage.

Traffic Analysis

The magnitude of this proposed land use change, especially along the M-37 State Trunkline, warrants a
comprehensive review including the Michigan Department of Transportation MDOT, KCRC and the
neighboring Four Corner communities. We will work through the Grand Valley Metro Council to
assemble a meeting of the East Beltline Zoning Advisory Committee.

The attached narrative submitted by the applicant details their reasoning for the proposed land use change.
Their site selection process put a high premium on locations proximate to a highway interchange to be
readily accessible to the entire metro area.

Regardless of the land use designation, there is a need to rely upon access control standards relative to the
intersection of a major arterial street and a state trunkline as well as safely distancing private driveways
from the boulevard median openings administered by MDOT and KCRC. We are seeking guidance from
our road agency partners to ascertain what type of traffic analysis may be desirable/necessary to factor
into the project review.

Staff Analysis

1. The 2000 Kentwood Wireless Communications Plan identified this northeast quadrant of
Broadmoor and 52™ Street as one of the eight preferred cell tower sites within the city limits.
The effect of the plan was to encourage tower providers and wireless communications service
providers to first consider preferred sites before other possible sites within the city. Furthermore,
the designated sites were allowed towers by right. We recently contacted airport staff and learned
that the cell tower concept would be subject to FAA Part 77 restrictions.

2. The primary staff concern relates to the availability of land suitably zoned to support industrial
development in Kentwood and the greater Grand Rapids area. A recent Crains Grand Rapids
Business article dated August 8, 2023, highlighted the scarcity of available industrial real estate in
the West Michigan area. We reached out to Tim Mroz, the Senior Vice President of Community
Development with The Right Place for their perspective on the availability of industrial
properties. He provided us with the attachments to this staff report describing the industrial
vacancy rates in the southeast portion of the Grand Rapids Metro area through the second quarter
0f 2023 from the viewpoint of JLL and NAI Wisinski of West Michigan. Mroz also provided the

2|Page Case”#25—23 Anderﬁswc-)nn M.aster PI'~a~rM1MChan'ge”Request










City of Kentwood Planning Commission, 9/1/2023

| am propasing a change to the Master Plan, and if that succeeds, the rezoning
of 5080,5090, 5140 Broadmoor Ave. SE and 4581 52nd St. SE located in the city of
Kentwood. | am seeking these chénges so that | can build a pickieball and Wiffle® ball
restaurant and recreational sport courts social club. Currently, restaurants are permitted

in L1 zoning. However, sport courts, like the ones | want to include with my restaurant,

are not included in L1 zoning.

Therefore, | am asking the Planning Commission to change their master plan for
the above addresses so that | can build my restaurant and recreational sport courts
social club that will cater to people who want to play pickleball and Wiffle® ball, (inside

and out) and/or who are looking for a great meal in the surrounding area or on the way

to the airpdrt.

My restaurant will include six indoor pickleball courts as well as an indoor
regulation-size Wiffle® Ball field. | will also have four outdoor pickleball courts and
outdoor seating. Besides the pickleball courts and Wiffle® ball field, I will have a bar
and restaurant for the surrounding “working” community that will serve burgers,
sandwiches, soups, and salads; hence a gathering place. | will also offer a juice bar as
well as sméll “pro shdp." The second story of the building will have a conference room
for corporate events that will overlook the. indoor pickleball courts. This building will be
a standard steel industrial building. This restaurant will add a much-needed eatery
- away from the busy 28™ St. corridor and add to the growing evidence that Kentwood is

a great community to live, work, and play.

Thank you. Andy Anderson







. PP P s
e

oS

v

T .
ey e
e T
i A T

PARKING STAKDAADS:

COAQIERDAL RECREATION - (NDOOR'+ & SFACES MR COURT
COMERCIAL RECRTATION - OUTDGOR « 4 SPACTS FEA COURT

OFYICT SPACE -} SPALZ FER 300 SUUARE FEET
RESTAURAHT -1 SPACE PR SO SOUARE FEET UFA.
‘RETAL - 1 SPACE PER 250 SCRARE FLET
STORAGE - 1 SPACE PR 2300 SQUARL FRET

PARKING REQUIRED:
CONBIERCAL RECREATION ~ ROOOR - & POGLEBALL CRUTS 24 SPACHS
GNEWEFFLE DAL COURT 4 SPACES
COUMERCIAL RECREATIN ~ 041 moaR . 4 POXLEBALL COURTS 18 SPACES
OFNCE SPACE. - 90 STUARE FLIT
RES] +2320
FITAL - 900 SQUARG FLET - PRO SHOP 4 SPALES
'STORAGE - 698 SQUARE FEET

JOUTSIDE 47 SPACES.

P LT
&

Design Build LLC




_J;%Lu§@@@wm&@

2717 piing uBissg

SLraal

sofes
=
1

TNOHA0 T NPUYID HHUNGD
.
.
fl

3004 ST -+ NrTad 40 d0L.

=] % =
=] il =
1
fl

VIS
14
P
C 1
o

Uejd d0014

PN 13 TS RIE







“There are simply not enough industrial buildings on the market for sale or for
lease,” Prins wrote in a recent second~quarter market report. “"Common sense
would tell you that the solution would be to construct more industrial buildings.
However, with rising interest rates, high construction costs and a shortage of
industrial vacant land, the rent required to make the overall project cost viable
is keeping several developers on the sidelines. ... Without the economies of
scale that come along with constructing a large building, it is difficult to get
construction costs down to where it makes sense relative to market rents.”

Randy Bronkema, owner of Grandville-based Independence Realty, noted that
the acceleration of demand for industrial facilities that was driven by low
interest rates is now starting to balance out.

“We are starting to see more buildings on the market and a little bit more
marketing time,” he said. “We are going to go back to a little more buyer-seller
market versus buildings that were put on the market and were selling more or
less instantly.”

Bronkema added that “location, location location” remains the primary driver of
whether industrial buildings and properties are leased or sold.,

Prime locations

With prime industrial buildings generally located near freeways, Bronkema said
that the M-6 interchange near Byron Center and M-37 through Kentwood have
been growing, along with areas around the Gerald R. Ford International Airport.
Areas in Walker near Fruit Ridge Avenue also have experienced strong industrial
growth, according to local brokers.

Grand Rapids-area submarkets such as downtown, northeast and outside of the
metro area have vacancy rates below 1%, according to Colliers. The southwest

2




and northwest submarkets have vacancy rates of 2.2% and 1.6%, respectively.

The southeast metro area boasts the highest vacancy rate of 5%, according to
Colliers.

Multiple brokerages also noted American Seating Co.’s recent announcement
that it is relocating its office and manufacturing operations from the west side of
the city of Grand Rapids to a former Steelcase building on the city’s south side.
Company officials said future plans for American Seating’s legacy manufacturing
operations, which has shrunk over the years, is still undetermined. '

Meanwhile, brokers also reported an increase in overall asking lease rates
during the second quarter. Asking lease rates are trending upward, ranging
from $4.94 to $6.59 per-square-foot. Brokers at real estate services firm JLL
noted that a $4.94 per~square—foot average asking rent during the second
quarter is a 15.9% increase from the same period last year.

As well, the region’s low supply of industrial space has contributed to increased
activity in the sublease market this quarter, according to Advantage Commercial
Real Estate. '

SAs the supply of new space stays low, companies look to absorb current space
through subleasing. This surge is reflected in the absorption of sublease space
over the past few months,” according to Advantage Commercial Real Estate’s
second-quarter market report.

Of more than 805,000 square feet of sublease space listed at the start of the
second quarter, more than 272,074 has been absorbed. -

“This level of sublease absorption is truly remarkable, especially when compared
" to previous sublease reports. Over the past two years, excluding this quarter,
only 203,557 (square feet) of sublease transactions were reported, further
highlighting the signiﬁcance of this quarter’s numbers,” according to Advantage
Commercial Real Estate.








































N \ ' Wisinski of
| al B West Mlchlgan
COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE SERVICES WORLDWIDE

Grand Rapids Office
100 Ceasr E. Chavez Suite 100
Grand Rapids, M| 49503
616.776. 0100

Kalamazoo Office’
1803 Whites Rd Suite 2/
Kalamazoo, M| 49008
269.353.0311 .

naiwwm.com
































































East Beltline Advisory Committee
Meeting Summary
October 19, 2023

Members Present: Peter Kimball, Grand Valley Metro Council (GVMC) Transportation
Planner, Jason Cole, Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT), Kerwin Keen,
MDOT, Tim Haagsma, Kent County Road Commission (KCRC), Brian Hilbrands, Cascade
Township Planning Director, and Terry Schweitzer, Kentwood Director of Community
Development,

Others Present: Denise Kolesar, Advisor to applicant Andrew Anderson and Chris Van
Doeselaar, Newco Design Build LLC

The meeting convened at 9:04am

[.  Introductions

Everyone introduced themselves.

II.  Brief background on this committee
Schweitzer and provided recent history and role of East Beltline Advisory Group as a
GVMC subcommittee. It provides a forum for land use and transportation officials from
the respective communities and road agencies to discuss proposed changes in land use
and/or transportation facilities in the M-37 corridor.

IIl.  Introduction to the proposed project
Schweitzer provided context to the proposed change to the future land use designation
on the northeast corner of 52" Street and Broadmoor from industrial to commercial
being submitted by Andrew Anderson, an entrepreneur. He noted that the Kentwood
frontage along M-37 (Broadmoor Avenue) was predominately master planned and
zoned industrial except for the 6.5-acre area on the northwest corner of 52" Street and
M-37. He briefly reviewed the conceptual site plan for the proposed commercial
development as well as an industrial development concept plan put together by a
prospective developer back in July. He noted the industrial land use information the city
received from Tim Mroz, the Senior Vice President of Community Development with The
Right Placed. He also noted that regardless of the outcome of the land use question, the
land use designation of the northeast quadrant of 52™ Street and Broadmoor Avenue
should be the same, be it the current industrial or the proposed commercial. The main
reason for this approach is to integrate traffic access and circulation along the state
trunkline and arterial street.

IV.  Additional detail provided by applicant
Andrew Andeson’s representative, Denise Kolesar explained that her client wishes to
build a pickleball and Wiffleball restaurant on the site, an allowable use under the existing I-
1 zoning, however the recreational uses are not allowed. She noted the growing
popularity of these recreational sports and described how their concept would also
benefit the area by providing a quality restaurant to serve the surrounding industrial

1]Page East Beltline Advisory Committee 10-19-2023







workforce. The proximity of this site to M-6 was a key factor in their site selection
process since they anticipate a regional draw for their service offerings. Chris Van

Doeselaar noted that they recognized the importance of shared access onto Broadmoor and
5274 Street.

Tim Haagsma noted that the traffic associated with industrial development of the site
would generally add traffic volume to the peak hours on Broadmoor and 52" Street. In
contrast, the proposed commercial development would likely add volume during off
peak times on the respective roadways. In his roles as a Planning Commissioner and
Township Trustee for Gaines Township he noted the 300-350 acres of land area master
planned and recently rezoned to industrial in the northeast portion of their community.

Brian Hillbrands indicated that the Cascade Township frontage on Broadmoor included a
gas station and two hotels, with a new apartment community just to the east.
Otherwise, the southwest portion of their community was master planned and zoned
industrial.

Kerwin Keen and Jason Cole noted that they offer no recommendations on the land use
decisions made by the local units of government. Their focus is on safe access and
traffic circulation of development along the corridor to maintain the capacity and safety
of the roadway. They are therefore supportive of one access onto 52" Street and one
onto Broadmoor shared by and between all the properties in the northeast quadrant of
the intersection. In particular, the access drive onto Broadmoor should be centered
between the two indirect turns north of the 52M Street and Broadmoor intersection.
They also noted that the boulevard design of Broadmoor will be extended south to 76t
Street in the next few years within a narrower right-of-way.

Peter Kimball indicated he had reviewed the meeting information with GVMC Director
of Transportation Planning Laurel Joseph and they were both supportive of integrating
singular access and circulation onto 52™ Street and Broadmoor Avenue for all the
properties within the northeast quadrant of this intersection.

Schweitzer expressed appreciation to the meeting attendees for their participation and
input. He stated that if the master plan change is ultimately approved, staff would
recommend that it include the two properties on the corner with the condition that
development proceed as a Commercial Planned Unit Development integrating singular
access and circulation onto 52" Street and Broadmoor Avenue for all the properties.

The meeting adjourned at 9:40am

2|Page East Beltline Advisory Committee 10-19-2023







Schweitzer, Terry

From: Johnson, Andy

Sent: Thursday, October 12, 2023 11:15 AM

To: Schweitzer, Terry; Stagg, Brian

Cc: Golder, Lisa; Pung, Joe

Subject: RE: Industrial versus Commercial Land Value
Terry,

Properties in the State of Michigan are valued for ad valorem tax purposes according to their highest and best use.
Highest and best use is an appraisal concept that determines what the most productive, legal, feasible and possible use
of a property is. This four part test is part of our process when valuing property in Kentwood. If these properties were
master planned commercial versus industrial that would change the highest and best use analysis, as the legally
permissible uses available to the properties would change to include potential commercial uses. With a master plan
allowing for rezoning to a commercial use the value would certainly increase. Generally speaking, we value industrial
land at $75,000 per acre along Broadmoor, while commerecial office land is $3.50 per square foot or about $152,000 per
acre. One important thing to remember is adjustments that must be made based on the parcel. For instance if these
parcels are not of a size that is typical for the use, we may adjust those numbers up or down on an individual basis. |
hope this helps. | would be happy to discuss this further if needed.

Andy Johnson, MMAO
City Assessor
City of Kentwood

From: Schweitzer, Terry <SchweitzerT@kentwood.us>

Sent: Thursday, October 12, 2023 10:07 AM

To: Johnson, Andy <JohnsonA@kentwood.us>; Stagg, Brian <StaggB@kentwood.us>
Cc: Golder, Lisa <GolderL@kentwood.us>; Pung, Joe <Pungl@kentwood.us>
Subject: Industrial versus Commercial Land Value

Andy and Brian: The Planning Commission held a work session on October 10 regarding the proposed change from
industrial to commercial in the future land use designation of the properties addressed 5080, 5090, 5140
Broadmoor Avenue, SE and 4581 52™ Street, SE. During the discussion one of the commissioners questioned
the relative value of the properties if they were master planned and zoned industrial versus commercial. Can
you provide an answer to this question that can be shared back to the Planning Commission? Thanks, Terry




STAFF REPORT:

October 25, 2023

PREPARED FOR: Kentwood Planning Commission
PREPARED BY: Lisa Golder
CASE NO.: 29-23 GRR Ancillary CPUD
GENERAL INFORMATION
APPLICANT:
GRR Ancillary M/U Rep. by: Jim Morgan RJM Design
Ben Muller Realty Co. Inc. 1971 E. Beltline Ave NE
Madison Equipment, Inc. Grand Rapids MI 49525
1971 East Beltline NE Suite 240
Grand Rapids MI 49525
STATUS OF
APPLICANT: Owner and Owner’s Representative
REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning and Preliminary PUD Plan for a Commercial Planned
Unit Development
EXISTING ZONING OF
SUBJECT PARCEL.: [PUD-1 Industrial and R1-C Single Family Residential
GENERAL LOCATION:  NW corner of Patterson and 36™ Street SE
PARCEL SIZEs: 10.4 Acres
EXISTING LAND USE
ON THE PARCEL: Existing business and vacant
ADJACENT AREA
LAND USES: N- Consumers Energy ROW
S- 36" Street ROW
E- Patterson Avenue/Cascade Township
W: Vacant Industrial
ZONING ON ADJOINING
PARCELS: N- R1-C Single Family Residential

1| p a ; e

S: I-1 Light Industrial
E: TI (Cascade Township)
W: IPUD Industrial Planned Unit Development



Compatibility with Master Plan:

The Kentwood 2020 Master Plan was amended in 2022 to allow commercial development of the
site. The Findings of Fact for this recommendation are attached. There were several conditions
to the Master Plan Amendment, as follows:

1. Any PUD submitted for the site shall include a traffic analysis that will be reviewed by
the City and the Kent County Road Commission.

2. The PUD site plan shall include a driveway connection to the north in order to connect
to the traffic signal at 33" Street/Patterson Avenue.

3. The Patterson Avenue and 36™ Street frontages shall each allow only one curb cut
serving the development.

The applicant has submitted a traffic analysis and there is a future driveway connection proposed
to the north. However, the site plan also includes two driveways off of Patterson Avenue,
inconsistent with the Findings of Fact for the Master Plan amendment.

Zoning and Land Use History:

The site has been zoned IPUD and R1-C since 1979. Dykstra’s Auto Repair and the Theological
Book Network currently have established operations on the site. The parcel currently zoned R1-
C is a 22,500 square foot parcel located at 3531 Patterson Avenue. It is owned by the applicant
and is vacant.

Land Division:

The applicant portrays the site as 6 separate lots (Development Agreement lists a 7% lot for
detention pond). The applicant shall indicate their intent with regard to how/whether the parcel
will be subdivided.

Traffic Analysis:

The proposed development is located at the intersection of 36™ Street and Patterson Avenue.
Patterson Avenue is a five-lane cross section with two travel lanes in each direction and a center
turn lane. The speed limit on Patterson is 55 miles per hour. The road is under the jurisdiction
of the Kent County Road Commission (KCRC). Thirty-sixth (36™) Street is an east-west arterial
road and is under the jurisdiction of the City of Kentwood west of Patterson Avenue. It has a
five-lane cross section with two travel lanes in each direction and a center turn lane. The speed
limit of 36™ Street is 50 miles per hour in Kentwood and 45 miles per hour east of Patterson
Avenue.

The applicant has submitted a traffic analysis for the development. The executive summary is
attached. Since Patterson Avenue is under the jurisdiction of the Kent County Road
Commission, KCRC has submitted comments regarding the traffic study and the proposed
development. While the study methodology was found to be generally acceptable, KCRC has
concerns regarding the southernmost driveway on Patterson Avenue. The concern is that the
southbound through movement at the 36%/Patterson intersection will back up 505’ or more,
blocking the southern driveway and creating a safety concern for left turns in and out of the

2|Page



driveway. KCRC recommends that the driveway be eliminated, and the northern driveway re-
analyzed to see how it would function given the additional volume.

Staff Analysis:
In 2022, both the Land Use and Zoning Committee and the Master Plan Committee reviewed a

Master Plan amendment for the 10.4 acres of land proposed for rezoning. The applicants
discussed the potential rezoning of the property to Commercial. The developers indicated that
potential uses of the site could include a 4-story hotel, gas station/convenience store, several
restaurants including fast food drive through, and a retail strip center. The applicant also
completed a market study for a hotel.

The Committees discussed existing traffic in the area and the capacity of Patterson Avenue/36

Street for commercial uses. The Planning Commission approved the Master Plan amendment in
July of 2022.

1. General PUD Standards

Chapter 12 lists the intent and purpose of PUD development, with the following objectives:

1. Encourage use of land in accordance with its character and adaptability through allowance of
innovative and creative design solutions not permitted under conventional zoning;

2. Allow design flexibility that benefits the community and the environment and results in a better
overall project than would be permitted under conventional zoning;

3. Create a package of amenities not typically achieved with conventional zoning, such as useable
open space, preservation of key natural or historic resources, improvements to public roads or
facilities, pathways, natural stormwater systems, more extensive landscaping, consistent and
coordinated site design details among various projects (lighting, signs, building design, etc.), and
high-quality architectural design or materials;

4. Create a complementary mixture of housing types within a project that is consistent with the
overall character of the area;

5. Ensure compatibility of design and use between various uses within the PUD and with neighboring
properties, and

6. Encourage the use, redevelopment and improvement of existing sites.

From the information submitted by the applicant, it is not clear how the applicant meets the
Intent and purpose of the PUD zoning as described above.

2. PUD Qualifying Conditions:

Section 12.02 states the qualifying conditions for PUDs. Section 12.02 F states:

F. The application shall demonstrate the project will result in recognizable and substantial benefits to
the residents or occupants of the site, visitors to the site, adjacent properties and the City in contrast

3 Ipa ge S



to development permitted under conventional zoning. The applicant must provide compelling
evidence that demonstrates these benefits through drawings, reports or other submittals that
contrast development under conventional zoning with the design and uses proposed. Such benefits
can be provided from amongst the following:

=

Transition areas from adjacent land uses

High quality architectural design and materials, with clear guidelines that must be met with future

site plan submittals

. Extensive landscaping and preservation of quality woodlands or trees

Assured preservation of unique natural or historic site features, or viewsheds

Greenways that link to adjacent greenway corridors

Unified access and circulation that reduces the number of driveways

Provision of open space and social space

Provision of extensive pathway systems through the project

. Provision of recreational facilities, such as playground equipment and courts

10 Use or enhancement of natural systems for stormwater detention

11.More extensive setbacks or buffering between development and water features

12.Coordinated site design elements such as lighting, signs and greenbelt design

13.Coordinated development of several small parcels

14.Design Improvements (public and/or private) to mitigate traffic impacts, as demonstrated through
a traffic impact study

15.Elimination of nonconforming situations

16. Removal or renovation of blighted buildings or remediation of contamination as documented

through a Phase | and Phase |l Environmental Site Assessment and a Baseline Environmental

Assessment.

N

WX N hsW

Information has not been provided on the high-quality architectural design and materials, the
extensive landscaping, greenways that link to adjacent greenways, provision of usable open
space. '

3. PUD Site Design Guidelines

It is not clear how the development meets the standards of Section 12.05 5 Site Design Standards
below:

Site Design Guidelines: The following site elements shall be provided:

a. Anextensively landscaped greenbelt, with an average width of 30 feet and minimum of 20 feet
shall be provided along all public streets. Plantings within the greenbelt shall exceed the
requirements of Section 19.03A. Low, undulating (horizontal and vertical) berms or an
architectural feature (decorative stone or brick wall, wrought iron fencing or combination) may
be permitted as an alternative to the trees.

The applicant has pr0v1ded the greenbelt, but the plantings do not meet the requirements
of 19.03A.

b. Site design and landscaping shall diminish the prominence of parking lots as viewed from public
streets. Parking lot landscaping shall exceed the amount otherwise required.

4[Page



It is unclear how the proposed landscaping accomplishes this standard.

A City entranceway landmark or entrance sign may be required near the intersection of two
arterial streets or at an entrance point to the city. The type and conceptual design of said
landmark shall be determined as part of the Preliminary PUD Plan approval, and the timing of
installation described in the PUD Agreement.

Although the development is located at the intersection of two arterial streets, there is
no proposed entranceway landmark or sign. ‘

Extensive pedestrian gathering and seating plazas, greenways and tree lined drives shall be
within parking lots and throughout the site to provide an inviting pedestrian environment,

protection of the pedestrian from vehicular circulation for improved traffic operations and
views.,

The only shown seating area is near the diesel fueling location. The pedestrian
circulation could be improved across the site.

Other site amenities to create a pedestrian scale environment shall be provided such as bike
racks, benches, information kiosks, art, planters or streetscape elements to separate mainline
buildings from the parking lots.

No information has been provided regarding these elements.

Any detention areas with predominant view from the roadway, parking lot, residential
dwellings or primary entrances to buildings shall be designed to have a natural appearance,
such as: variable shape; natural arrangement of landscape materials; aerated fountains; use
boulder accent walls; or other similar design features.

The proposed detention pond is off site but is in view of the parking lot for the hotel.
The design features could be added to the pond.

Sign types and materials shall be consistent with the overall architectural design of the PUD.
Signs for uses or buildings located in the PUD shall be subject to the sign limitations allowed
for uses or buildings of a similar type built in the respective zoning districts, as determined by
the Zoning Administrator.

The site shall have a minimum open space of thirty (30) percent exclusive of areas  of
deferred parking.

The applicant shall note where the open space is located. No deferred parking is
proposed but could be added to the site plan given that there are 50 extra parking spaces
for the uses proposed on the site.

6. Maintenance and Utilities: For any areas to be held under common ownership, a document

ensuring the future maintenance provisions shall be submitted for approval to the Planning
Commission. Such provision shall include mandatory membership of all property owners in any

s5|Page



association designed for maintenance of the common area and the City shall have the right to require
the recording of such documentation and other provisions deemed appropriate for the project by the
Planning Commission.

This is addressed in the proposed Operating and Easement Agreement.

7. Building Height and Architectural Guidelines: Information on architecture and building design

(elevations or perspectives, materials and description of design standards) shall be submitted and
comply with the following:

Architecture throughout the development shall be compatible based on a design theme
established with the Preliminary PUD Plan and described in the PUD Agreement.
Compatibility of site use with nearby residential areas must be evidenced and can be
determined in relationship to the following criteria:

(1) Uses have no harmful or unpleasant effects (noise, odors, fumes, glare, vibration,
smoke, vapors and gases, electrical emissions and industrial wastes.)

(2) The PUD site has direct access to a collector or arterial street.

(3) Appearance is harmonious with adjacent uses. This feature would include but  not be
limited to landscaping, enclosure of principal and accessory uses, height control,
sign  control, low profile buildings and architectural controls.

(4) The distances separating all proposed uses and buildings from the surroundings are
great enough to in fact constitute a buffer.

(5) Loading docks and truck maneuvering areas and terminals should be further
removed from residential lot lines than the building.

Buildings shall utilize high quality architecture with variable building lines, peaked  roofs or

parapet walls, architectural accents, and brick facades.

Building heights will be as required by the Commercial Districts (Chapter 8).

The depth of the front building line shall be varied to break up the building massing.

The predominant material utilized on facades which are visible from a public right-of-way or

parking lots shall be brick. Other materials may be used for architectural accents, provided

such materials shall have the appearance of wood or cut or cast stone.

A building or buildings shall face (front facade or side elevation with appearance of a front

facade) the intersection of existing arterial streets. The building(s) shall have distinct

architecture that creates a prominent landmark at the intersection, with no loading or utility
areas that face the intersection. There shall be a landscaped plaza in front of the building
or between buildings. Parking is encouraged behind buildings.

The type and amount of building materials utilized shall comply with the following table:

Material Maximum Percent of Wall to be Covered by

Certain Building Materials
100 75 50 25

Brick v

Glass

Decorative Masonry

Stone

Metal Composite Material Panel

| K| K| <

Metal, Wood and Vinyl Siding v

Finishes™ v

6|p é g é .



* includes dryvit, plaster, stucco or similar materials. Such materials shall not be used where contact with vehicles may
occur such as parking areas and traffic ways.

The applicant has prepared a general statement about building materials, indicating
that:

“Architectural features will utilize quality materials with variable building lines,
peaked roofs or parapet walls, architectural accents, and masonry facade,
complying as much as practical with Ordinance Section 12.05.7.”

This statement does not address Section 12.057 f that requires that the predominant
material shall be brick, with the accents of wood or cut/cast stone. In addition, Section
12.05 7g requires that building facades shall face the intersection of existing arterial
streets. The section also requires distinct architecture that creates a prominent
landmark at the intersection, and a landscaped plaza in front of the building. Parking
is required to be behind the building.

The building proposed at the intersection of 36" Street and Patterson Avenue is a gas
station, with parking, gas pumps and a diesel gas pump along the arterial street. This is
inconsistent with the intent of the regulations.

PUD Agreement

4. Inthe proposed PUD Statement, the applicant states that deviations to the zoning regulations
were unknown but could include building heights, building setbacks, reduced greenbelt, buffer
zone widths, reduced parking quantities, signage regulations, and building materials, The
applicant Jeaves the potential for additional “other” deviations as well. Generally, the proposed
deviations are stated at the time of the preliminary approval, so that the City Commission can
review any proposed deviations at that time. The existence of a statement regarding deviations
does not imply approval of any of the deviations. Each deviation would have to be reviewed by
both the Planning and City Commissions if the deviations are not requested as part of the
preliminary plan. In addition, staff and the Commissions would have to determine whether the
new deviations proposed at a future date have an impact on the preliminary approval.

5. Section 2.2 of the proposed PUD Agreement indicates that signage easements are to be noted
on the site plan but it is not clear where these easements are intended. The zoning ordinance
states that a PUD is subject to the limitations allowed for uses or buildings of a similar type built
in the respective zoning districts (although this is part of the Section that can be waived).

PUD Site Plan
6. The PUD site Plan proposes the following uses:

e Hotel with 135 rooms on 3.26 acres

e Child care center on 1.03 acres

e 9,500 square foot retail center on 1.02 acres

e 8,000 square foot retail and 3,000 square foot bank on 2.04 acres

}'p ag_ e< et e



10.

11.

12.

13.

e 4,000 square foot restaurant on 1.03 acres
e 6,000 square foot gas station/convenience store on 2.19 acres

The bank, retail center drive through, restaurant with drive through, hotel, and gas station
must receive Special Land Use approval. The hotel would have to receive Special Land
Use approval for the height of the hotel, or, alternatively, could address the height as a
deviation to the PUD. If the preliminary site plan for the development is approved, each
phase of the development would also have to receive final PUD site plan approval.

The width of the curb cut on 36 Street appears to be too wide to meet city requirements.
Kent County Road Commission must make a determination on the width of the driveway
on Patterson Avenue.

The applicant intends to extend the northernmost driveway to the west. If this occurs,
there will be an impact on the open space. Applicant shall indicate whether the 30%
open space for the site includes the driveway extension. Applicant shall indicate whether

the 30% open space includes the future one-story commercial retail building.

The applicant shall indicate whether the traffic analysis takes into account the truck
traffic generated by the diesel fuel station.

The zoning district to the north of the site is R1-C Residential; site plan states that it is I-1
Industrial.

The applicant must provide a lighting plan for final approval.
The site exceeds the required parking by 50 spaces.

The applicant shall provide a phasing plan.

Attributes:

e Proposed uses permitted (some with SLU) in CPUD
e Appears to meet Open Space criteria

Issues:

8|Page

e Does not provide basis for how development meets General PUD and PUD
Qualifying Conditions

e Does not provide basis for how the development meets the site design guidelines
for the CPUD

e KCRC recommends removal of southern driveway on Patterson Avenue

e Site details needed—open space, driveway width justification, lighting, deferred
parking, phasing





















The current zoning already allows for certain services such as
vehicle fuel stations, day care centers and restaurants.

2. The proposed use is generally consistent with the Guiding Principles
identified in the Master Plan for Section 13.

The Master Plan currently recommends Guiding Development
that include:

a. Development of Section 13 as a PUD.

b. Internal roads and trails within the development to provide
connectivity through the site and to adjacent properties.

c¢. Limited driveways on Patterson Avenue.

d. Design guidelines required for a unified and cohesive
development.

e. Restrictions on uses adjacent to residences.

The proposed development meets most of these principles; or will
be able to meet the principles within a future PUD development.

3. The proposed master plan change has received support from area
property owners.

The Gerald R. Ford International Airport has indicated its
support for the master plan amendment. Adjacent residents have
also indicated their support during the public comment period for
the Master Plan amendment.

4. The current zoning allows several of the uses that the applicant intends
to include in a proposed CPUD development plan. '

Vehicle fuel stations, restaurants, day care, and personal service
establishments are allowed in the current IPUD zoning district.
Other uses that have been proposed, such as a hotel, are subject to
CPUD approval and Special Land Use criteria.

5. Although the Master Plan is recommended to be amended to allow for
commercial use, the Plan also cleatly requires the rezoning to a
Commercial Planned Unit Development. The CPUD zoning, if
approved, will allow the city to address access and use issues that are
of concern for the development.



6. The driveway connection to 33" Street will allow the eventual
connection to a signalized intersection for the development. The
allowance for one driveway each to access Patterson Avenue and 360
Street is consistent with the qualifying conditions for PUD districts
outlined in Chapter 12 of the Zoning Ordinance. Interior driveways
providing connection betwéen nses is a standard outlined in Section
12.05 4 of the Zoning Ordinance. The PUD rezoning and site plan
review for this site will include an analysis of the types of uses
proposed to ensure that they support the area’s industrial base. In
addition, the traffic analysis and site review will ensure the
development will not have a negative impact on adjacent roadways and
that the internal circulation between uses is achieved.

7. Discussion during work session and public hearing.



DECLARATION OF OPERATING AND EASEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS DECLARATION OF OPERATING AND EASEMENT AGREEMENT
(this "OEA") is made as of the  day of , by GRR ANCILLARY
MU, LLC, a Michigan limited 11ab111ty company ("Declarant")

Background

WHEREAS, Declarant is the owner of that certain parcel of land located in the City of
Grand Rapids, Kent County, Michigan, legally described on Exhibit A (the "Property") and
depicted on the Site Plan attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit B (the "Site Plan"),
and plans to construct on portions thereof one or more buildings to be used for commercial and/or
retail purposes and related uses;

WHEREAS, The Property consists of seven parcels designated on the Site Plan as "Parcel
1" ("Parcel 1"), "Parcel 2" ("Parcel 2"), "Parcel 3" ("Parcel 3"), "Parcel 4" ("Parcel 4"), "Parcel
5" ("Parcel 5"), "Parcel 6" ("Parcel 6") and "Parcel 7" ("Parcel 7") and more particularly
described on Exhibit C attached and made a part hereof; and

WHEREAS, Declarant hereby desires to subject the Property to certain reciprocal rights,
easements, covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth in order to effectuate the common use
and operation thereof.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the mutual promises and covenants
hereinafter set forth, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto, it is agreed as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

1.1 Access Drives. "Access Drives" shall mean the areas so named and depicted on
the Site Plan and located on a Parcel.

1.2 Building. "Building” shall mean any enclosed structure placed, constructed or
located on a Parcel, which for the purpose of this OEA shall include any appurtenant canopies,
supports, loading docks, truck ramps, trash enclosures, drive-thru lanes and areas, drive-thru
improvements, and other outward extensions.


















shall not materially adversely affect the use of the Parcels by its respective Owners or their
respective Occupants and Permittees.

(b) Location of Utility Lines. Except as expressly set forth herein, each Owner is
obligated to complete construction of the facilities shown on the Utility Plan located on its
respective Parcel in accordance with the Utility Plan. After initial construction of any utility
facility, and except as depicted as a connection as shown on the Utility Plan, connection into a
Utility Line by an Owner shall require the prior written consent of the Owner of the Parcel on
which the Utility Line is located, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned
or delayed. Upon such connection by another Owner with such Utility Line, the Utility Line
shall become a Common Utility Line. The Owner so connecting to such Utility Line shall be
liable for all costs of such connection and for any separate hookup fees charged by the utility
provider to such Owner and shall thereafter pay all costs associated with the repair, replacement
and maintenance of such hookup and such Utility Line on such Owner’s Parcel and shall
indemnify or reimburse the other Owners for any damage to such other Owner’s Parcel caused
by any such hookup or failure to repair or maintain as provided above. In addition, in the event
the Grantor of a Common Utility Line is not serviced by such Common Utility Line, the Grantees
of the Common Utility Line agree to defend, protect, indemnify and hold harmless the Grantor
from and against all claims or demands, including any action or proceeding brought thereon, and
all costs, losses, expenses and liabilities of any kind relating thereto, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees and cost of suit, arising out of or resulting from the exercise of the right to install,
maintain and operate the Common Utility Line.

(c) Initial Costs of Construction and Costs of Future Construction. Any Owner
installing Separate Utility Lines shall pay all costs associated with the construction thereof and
shall cause all work in connection therewith (including general clean-up and proper surface
and/or subsurface restoration) to be completed as quickly as possible and in a manner so as to
minimize interference with the use of the Common Area. In addition, the Grantee of any
Separate Utility Line agrees to defend, protect, indemnify and hold harmless the Grantor from
and against all claims or demands, including any action or proceeding brought thereon, and all
costs, losses, expenses and liabilities of any kind relating thereto, including reasonable attorneys’
fees and cost of suit, arising out of or resulting from the negligence or willful and wanton conduct
of Grantee, its employees or agents in the exercise of the right to install, maintain, repair, replace
and operate the Separate Utility Line.

(d) Relocation of Existing Utility L.ines. The Grantor of any easement granted pursuant
to the provisions of this Section 2.3 shall have the right to relocate a Utility Line upon thirty (30)
days prior written notice to the Grantee and shall be subject to the prior written approval of the
Owner whose Parcel is to be burdened thereby, which approval may be withheld upon such
burdened Owner’s commercially reasonable discretion. The Owner requesting an easement for
such Utility Line shall provide the following items along with its request: (i) identification of the
proposed relocation on a site plan; (ii) a written description of the scope of work and schedule;
and (iii) a certificate of insurance as required by Section 6.1(a)(i) and shall further provide the
Grantee with an "as-built" survey of the relocated easement area as soon as possible following
completion of such relocation. Any such relocation:

























Parties shall use the type of surfacing material that was originally installed,
or a substitute that is equal in quality, appearance and durability.

(i)  Remove all papers, debris, filth and refuse from their Parcel.

(iv)  Maintain all structures in accordance with the prevailing practices of the
operation of similar first-class retail centers in the Grand Rapids
Metropolitan Area.

(v) Repaint striping, markers and signs on their Parcel as necessary to maintain
them in first-class condition.

(vi)  Maintain landscaping on their Parcel as necessary to keep it in a first-class
condition.

(vii) Except for Manager's obligations pursuant to 4.1(b) above, provide snow
and ice removal and sweeping as needed on all sidewalks and other paved
areas located on their Parcel.

(viii) Maintain and repair any directional signage pertaining to one Parcel but
located on the Common Area.

(ix) If a Building on a Parcel is damaged, the Owner thereof shall promptly
secure the Building, and either commence prompt repair and restoration or
demolish the Building to grade level, install suitable topsoil, seed and
maintain a grass surface all in accordance with first class shopping center
standards in the Grand Rapids Metropolitan Area.

42  Garbage. The Owners of the Parcels, on behalf of themselves and their Occupants,
agree to store all trash, garbage, refuse and recyclable materials in adequate containers and to
locate such containers in enclosed or fenced structures so they are concealed and such containers
are not readily visible and to arrange for regular removal of such trash, garbage, refuse and
recyclable materials.

ARTICLE V

CONSTRUCTION

5.1 General Construction Requirements.

(a) Compliance with Laws. Each Owner agrees that all construction and maintenance
activities performed by it within the Project shall be performed in compliance with the PUD and
all other applicable laws, rules, regulations, orders, and ordinances of the City, county, state and
federal government, or any department or agency thereof. All construction and maintenance
shall be performed in a good, safe and workmanlike manner. Each Owner further agrees that its
construction and maintenance activities shall not: (i) cause any unreasonable increase in the cost
of constructing improvements upon another Owner’s Parcel; (ii) unreasonably interfere with
construction work being performed on any other part of the Project; (iii) unreasonably interfere







with the use, occupancy or enjoyment of any part of the remainder of the Project by any other
Owner or its Permittees; or (iv) cause any Building located on another Parcel to be in violation
of any law, rule, regulation, order or ordinance authorized by any city, county, state or federal
government, or any department or agency thereof.

(b) Construction Liens. In the event any mechanic’s lien, contractor’s lien or other lien
is filed against the Parcel of one Owner as a result of services performed or materials furnished
for the use of another Owner, the Owner permitting or causing such lien to be so filed agrees to
promptly cause such lien to be released and discharged of record, either by paying the
indebtedness that gave rise to such lien or by posting a bond or other security as shall be required
by law to obtain such release and discharge. Nothing herein shall prevent the Owner permitting
or causing such lien from contesting the validity thereof in any manner such Owner chooses so
long as such contest is pursued with reasonable diligence and so long as such lien shall not cause
a default under any instrument to which the Owner owning the Parcel is a party, unless such
instrument shall allow the posting of security for such lien as a cure and the Owner permitting
such lien posts such security; provided, however, the Owner permitting or causing such lien shall
satisfy such lien prior to any foreclosure or threat of loss of title resulting therefrom. The Owner
permitting or causing the lien agrees to defend, protect, indemnify and hold harmless the other
Owner and its Parcel from and against all claims and demands, including any action or
proceeding brought thereon, and all costs, losses, expenses and liabilities of any kind relating
thereto, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and cost of suit, arising out of or resulting from such
lien.

5.2 Parking Standards. The Parking Area shall contain sufficient parking spaces in
order to comply with the applicable minimum parking requirements of the City and the PUD, as
well as all other applicable governmental laws, rules, regulations, and ordinances.

5.3  Construction Insurance. Each constructing Owner shall obtain or require its
contractor to obtain and thereafter maintain so long as such construction activity is occurring, at
least the minimum insurance coverage set forth below:

() Employer’s Liability Insurance.

(ii) Worker’s compensation insurance as required by any applicable law or
regulation. The worker’s compensation policy must include Coverage B-
Employer’s liability limits of: Bodily Injury by Accident - $1,000,000 for
each accident; and Bodily Injury by Disease - $1,000,000 for each
employee.

(iii)  Commercial General Liability insurance with the following minimum limits
of liability and coverages:

(a) Premises and Operations;

(b) Products and Completed Operations;






(c) Contractual Liability (insuring the indemnity obligations assumed
by any contractor working on an Owner’s Parcel under contract
documents);

(d) Broad Form Property Damage, including Explosion, Collapse and
Underground Hazards, for the full replacement cost of Buildings and
improvements on an Owner’s Parcel (including Completed
Operations);

1. $2,000,000 for Bodily Injury and Property Damage each
occurrence;

2. $3,000,000 for Personal and Advertising Injury Liability;

3. $5,000,000 aggregate for Products and Completed
Operations;

4, $5,000,000 general aggregate.

(iv)  Automobile Liability Insurance. Automobile liability insurance (bodily
injury and property damage liability) written on an occurrence basis in an
amount not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence and $5,000,000 annual
aggregate, including coverage for owned, hired, and non-owned
automobiles, with limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined
single limit.

v) Umbrella/Excess Liability Insurance. Each Owner shall also carry
umbrella/excess liability insurance in the amount of $5,000,000.

The limits of insurance set forth in this OEA shall be increased every five (5) years (from
the date of this OEA) by an amount equal to seven and a half percent (7.5%) of the then current
insurance limits. If a particular insurance coverage set forth in this OEA is not generally available,
the nearest substitute therefor shall be provided.

If the construction activity involves the use of another Parcel, then the Owner and
mortgagee of such Parcel shall each be additional insured(s) and such insurance shall provide that
the insurance shall not be canceled or reduced in an amount or coverage below the requirements
of this OEA, without at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to the additional insureds. If such
insurance is canceled or expires, then the constructing Owner shall immediately stop all work on
or use of the other Owner’s Parcel until either the required insurance is reinstated or replacement
insurance obtained. Each Owner or Occupant, as the case may be, shall supply or cause its general
contractor to supply each Owner with certificates with respect to all insurance required by this
Section.

10






ARTICLE VI
OPERATION OF THE PROJECT
6.1 Insurance.
(a) Insurance Coverages. The Manager, as a Common Area Expense, and each other

Owner (as to its Parcel only) at such Owner’s sole cost and expense, shall maintain or cause to
be maintained in full force and effect:

(i) commercial general liability insurance (including blanket contractual
liability) written on an occurrence basis in an amount not less than
$2,000,000 per occurrence and $5,000,000 annual aggregate covering
bodily injury, personal injury resulting therefrom, and property damage,
which policy shall name each Owner hereto as an "additional insured"; and

(i)  property insurance on a special form causes of loss or equivalent insurance
policy insuring all Buildings located on an Owner’s Parcel in the amount of
the full replacement cost thereof (with a deductible not to exceed $100,000,
which not to exceed figure shall be increased by 7.5% every five (5) years).

(b) Insurance Requirements. All insurance required by this Section 6.1 shall: (i) be
procured from nationally, reputable insurance companies authorized to do business in the State
of Michigan; and (ii) provide that the policy shall not be canceled or allowed to expire, and the
coverage amounts shall not be reduced below the requirements of this OEA, without at least
thirty (30) days prior written notice by the insurer to each insured and to each additional insured.
The insurance coverages required hereunder may be procured by an Occupant, or under a blanket
policy or policies of an Owner or Occupant. Each Owner agrees to furnish to any Owner
requesting the same, a certificate(s) of insurance evidencing the insurance required to be carried
by such Person hereunder.

6.2  Real Estate Taxes. The Manager shall timely pay as a Common Area Expense any
real estate taxes imposed on the Common Area or the improvements thereon, and may engage
professional services to review and contest any real estate taxes or assessed valuations. Each other
Owner shall timely pay or cause to be paid all real estate taxes and other assessments and
impositions that are owed to any governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Owner’s
Parcel or the Owner.

6.3 Indemnity. Each Owner, agrees to defend, protect, indemnify and hold harmless
each other Owner and the Manager from and against all claims or demands, including any action
or proceedings brought thereon, and all costs, losses, expenses and liability of any kind relating
thereto, including reasonable attorney’s fees and cost of suit, arising out of or resulting from injury
to or death of any Person, or damage to the property of any Person located on the Parcel owned by
each indemnifying Owner; provided however, the foregoing obligation shall not apply to claims
caused by the negligence or willful act or omission of such other Owner, its Occupants or
Permittees, or anyone claiming by, through, or under any of them.

11


















(ii) The failure to observe or perform any of the covenants, conditions or
obligations of this OEA, other than as described in (i) above, immediately
in the event of an emergency or, if not an emergency, within thirty (30) days
after the issuance of a notice by the Manager or another Owner
(the "Non-Defaulting Owner") specifying the nature of the default
claimed.

9.2 Cure Rights of Non-Defaulting Parties. Any Non-Defaulting Owner shall have the
right, but not the obligation, to cure a default by the payment of money or the performance of some
other action for the account of and at the expense of the Defaulting Owner if such default is not
cured within ten (10) days following written notice from the Non-Defaulting Owner; provided,
however, that in the event the default shall constitute an emergency condition, the Non-Defaulting
Owner, acting in good faith, shall have the right to cure such emergency condition upon such
advance notice as is reasonably possible under the circumstances or, if necessary, without advance
notice, so long as telephonic notice has been given and written notice is given as soon as possible
thereafter. To effectuate any such cure, the Non-Defaulting Owner shall have the right to enter
upon the Parcel of the Defaulting Owner (but not into any Building), to perform any necessary
work or furnish any necessary materials or services to cure the default of the Defaulting Owner.
Each Owner shall be responsible for the default of its Occupants and their respective Permittees.
In the event any Non-Defaulting Owner shall cure a default, the Defaulting Owner shall reimburse
the Non-Defaulting Owner for all reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with such
curative action, plus interest as provided herein, within five (5) days after receipt of demand
therefore, together with reasonable documentation supporting the expenditures made. Costs and
expenses accruing and/or assessed pursuant to this Section 9.2 shall constitute a lien against the
Defaulting Owner’s Parcel. The lien shall attach and take effect only upon recordation of a claim
of lien in the Office of the Recorder of Kent County, Michigan, by the Owner making the claim.

9.3 Other Remedies. Each Non-Defaulting Owner shall have the right to prosecute any
proceedings at law or in equity against any Defaulting Owner hereto, or any other Person, violating
or attempting to violate or defaulting upon any of the provisions contained in this OEA, and to
recover damages for any such violation or default or obtain an injunction; provided, however, in
no event shall any Owner be liable for consequential or punitive damages. The prevailing party in
any such proceeding shall be entitled to recover from the non-prevailing party its reasonable
attorneys’ fees, court costs and other litigation expenses. All of the remedies permitted or available
to an Owner under this OEA or at law or in equity shall be cumulative and not alternative, and the
invocation of any such right or remedy shall not constitute a waiver or election of remedies with
respect to any other permitted or available right or remedy.

9.4  Exculpation. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, none of
the Persons comprising an Owner (whether partners, members, managers, sharcholders, officers,
directors, trustees, employees, beneficiaries or otherwise) shall ever be personally liable for any
such judgment obtained against an Owner.

14






ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS

10.1  Estoppel Certificate. Each Owner agrees that within not more than fifteen (15) days
and upon written request of any other Owner, it will issue to such Person, or its prospective
mortgagee or successor, an estoppel certificate stating to the best of the issuer’s knowledge as of
such date: (i) whether it knows of any default under this OEA by the requesting Person, and if
there are known defaults, specifying the nature thereof; (ii) whether this OEA has been assigned,
modified or amended in any way by it and if so, then stating the nature thereof; (iii) whether there
are any monies due from any Owner arising from this OEA and, if so, the amount; and (iv) whether
this OEA is in full force and effect.

10.2  Notices. All notices, demands and requests (collectively the "notice") required or
permitted to be given under this OEA shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given
as of the date such notice is: (i) personally delivered to the Owner intended; (ii) delivered to the
then designated address of the Owner intended; (iii) confirmed as transmitted by electronic mail,
provided that any notices confirmed as delivered after 5:00 PM local time at the place of receipt
shall be deemed received as of the next business day; or (iv) rejected at the then designated address
of the Owner intended, provided such notice was, in the case of (ii) sent prepaid, certified U.S.
mail or via nationally recognized overnight carrier.

The initial address of Declarant shall be:

Declarant: GRR Ancillary MU, LLC

Attention:
E-mail:

Upon at least ten (10) days prior written notice, each Person shall have the right to change
its address to any other address within the United States of America.

10.3 Interest. Any time an Owner shall not pay any sum payable hereunder to another
within thirty (30) days after written notice of such default such delinquent Owner shall pay interest
on such amount from the due date to and including the date such payment is received by the Person
entitled thereto, at the lesser of: (i) 6% per annum (600 basis points) in excess of the prime rate
from time to time published in the Wall Street Journal, or if publication thereof shall cease, in a
similar national reputable business publication, or (ii) the highest lawful rate permissible under
[llinois law from time to time.

10.4  Negation of Partnership. None of the terms or provisions of this OEA shall be
deemed to create a partnership between or among the Owners in their respective businesses or
otherwise, nor shall it cause them to be considered joint venturers or members of any joint
enterprise. Each Owner shall be considered a separate owner, and no Owner shall have the right

15






to act as an agent for another Owner, unless expressly authorized to do so herein or by separate
written instrument signed by the Owner to be charged.

10.5 Not a Public Dedication. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to be a gift or
dedication of any Parcel or portion thereof to the general public, or for any public use or purpose
whatsoever. Except as herein specifically provided, no right, privileges or immunities of any
Owner hereto shall inure to the benefit of any third-party Person, nor shall any third-party Person
be deemed to be a beneficiary of any of the provisions contained herein.

10.6  Excusable Delays. Whenever performance is required of any Person hereunder,
such Person shall use all commercially reasonable diligence to perform and take all necessary
measures in good faith to perform; provided, however, that if completion of performance shall be
delayed at any time by reason of acts of God, war, civil commotion, riots, strikes, picketing or
other labor disputes, unavailability of labor or materials, damage to work in progress by reason of
fire or other casualty, or any cause beyond the reasonable control of such Person, then the time for
performance as herein specified shall be appropriately extended by the amount of the delay actually
so caused. The provisions of this Section shall not operate to excuse any Person from the prompt
payment of any monies required by this OEA.

10.7 OEA Shall Continue Notwithstanding Breach. It is expressly agreed that no breach
of this OEA shall (i) entitle any Owner to cancel, rescind, or otherwise terminate this OEA, or (ii)
defeat or render invalid the lien of any mortgage or deed of trust made in good faith and for value
as to any part of the Project. However, such limitation shall not affect in any manner any other
rights or remedies which an Owner may have hereunder by reason of any such breach.

10.8 Binding Effect. The terms of this OEA and all easements granted hereunder shall
constitute "covenants running with the land" and shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon
the signatories hereto and their respective successors and assigns who become Owners hereunder
into perpetuity.

10.9  Entire Agreement; Interpretation. This OEA and the exhibits hereto constitute the
entire understanding and agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and,
except as expressly otherwise provided for herein, any and all prior agreements, understandings,
and representations are hereby terminated and canceled to the extent in conflict with the terms
hereof in their entirety and of no further force or effect. The provisions of this OEA have been
fully negotiated at arm’s length between the signatories hereto and shall be construed as a whole
according to their common meaning and not strictly for or against any Owner.

10.10 Number; Gender; Captions. Whenever required by the context of this OEA, the
singular shall include the plural, and vice versa, and the masculine shall include the feminine and
neuter genders, and vice versa. The captions preceding the text of each article and section are
included only for convenience of reference and shall be disregarded in the construction and
interpretation of this OEA.

10.11 Severability. Invalidation of any of the provisions contained in this OEA, or of the
application thereof to any person by judgment or court order shall in no way affect any of the other

16






provisions hereof or the application thereof to any other person and the same shall remain in full
force and effect.

10.12 No Waiver. The failure of any Owner to insist upon strict performance of any of
the terms, covenants or conditions hereof shall not be deemed a waiver of any rights or remedies
which that Owner may have hereunder, at law or in equity and shall not be deemed a waiver of
any subsequent breach or default in any of such terms, covenants or conditions.

10.13 Amendment. This OEA may be amended by, and only by, a written agreement
signed by all of the then current Owners, and no other party’s, person’s or mortgagee’s consent,
approval or signature shall be required for such waiver, modification or release to be effective. No
consent to the amendment of this OEA shall ever be required of any Occupant or Person other than
the Parties, nor shall any Occupant or Person other than the Parties have any right to enforce any
of the provisions hereof, except as expressly set forth herein.

10.14 Counterparts. This OEA may be executed in several counterparts, each of which
shall be deemed an original. The signatures of this OEA may be executed and notarized on
separate pages, and when attached to this OEA shall constitute one complete document.

10.15 Time. Time is of the essence of this OEA and each and every term, provision,
covenant and condition hereof.

10.16 Covenants Run with the Land. Each restriction on a Parcel shall be a burden on
that Parcel, shall be appurtenant to and for the benefit of the other Parcels and each part thereof
and shall run with the land in accordance with applicable laws.

10.17 Subordination. Each Owner shall obtain and record an agreement from any present
mortgagee, trustee under any deed of trust, or other party with an interest in such Owner’s Parcel,
setting forth that the rights of such mortgagee, trustee or other party are subordinate and subject to
this OEA contemporaneously herewith. Any mortgage, deed of trust or other instrument which
shall be executed after the date hereof affecting any portion of any Parcel shall, at all times be
subject and subordinate to the terms of this OEA, unless otherwise provided herein, and the Parties
shall, upon request of any Owner, obtain a written confirmation of such subordination, in
recordable form, from any such mortgagee, trustee or other party obtaining an interest in any
portion of any Parcel, and any party foreclosing any mortgage or deed of trust affecting a portion
of any Parcel or acquiring title thereto by deed in lieu of foreclosure or trustee’s deed shall acquire
title to such premises subject to the terms of this OEA.

10.18 Assignment. No Owner or party hereto may assign its rights or interest in this OEA,
except to any successor fee Owner or ground lessee of any one (1) or more of the Parcel(s) or part
thereof, or permit the assignment or other transfer of this OEA or any of Owner’s rights hereunder
by operation of law except to any successor fee Owner of any one (1) or more of the Parcel(s) or
part thereof. Any attempted or purported transfer or assignment of this OEA or any of Owner’s
rights or interest hereunder in violation of the foregoing sentence shall be null and void and shall
not confer any rights upon any purported transferee or assignee, but any such assignment
conforming with the terms hereof shall not be effective against any other Owner until a copy of
said assignment is delivered to all Owners. The foregoing shall not prohibit the assignment or

17






delegation of enforcement and performance rights and obligations by an Owner or ground lessee
to a tenant, which assignment or delegation shall be permitted, but shall not relieve such Owner of
its ultimate responsibility.

10.19 Release. If any Owner shall sell, transfer or assign its Parcel or its interest therein,
it shall, except as expressly provided in this OEA, be released from its future obligations hereunder.
It shall be a condition precedent to the release and discharge of any grantor or assignor Owner that
such grantor or assignor shall give notice to the other parties to this Agreement of any such sale,
transfer, conveyance or assignment concurrently with, or immediately following, the filing for
record of the instrument effecting the same. The granting or assigning party shall remain
responsible for any amounts owing or any other obligation that shall have accrued prior to such
sale, transfer, conveyance or assignment.

10.20 No Merger. The rights and obligations of each Owner hereunder shall continue
undisturbed and the doctrine of merger shall not apply whether or not any Person shall become an
Owner of more than one Parcel or of the entire Project.

IN WITNESS WHEREOQOF, the Parties have caused this OEA to be executed effective as
of the day and year first above written.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally blank. Signatures appear on
following pages.]

18






Signature Page for Operating and Easement Agreement

GRR ANCILLARY MU, LLC, a Michigan
limited liability company

By:
Name:
Title:

STATE OF MICHIGAN )

)

COUNTY OF )
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this __ day of ,

, by , the of GRR ANCILLARY MU, LLC, a
Michigan limited liability company, on behalf of the company.

Notary Public, Kent County, Michigan
My commission expires:
Acting in Kent County, Michigan

Drafted By and When Recorded Return To:

21814346

19






EXHIBIT A

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

EXHIBIT A



Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ....coomrrremrerrerenssessanes eesreR RS ARt R SRR R e R R ARt R RS 1
INTRODUCTION . ..cutitstissuiistssernensassssonssesrarsssssssssssseesanssssss sassessas ssans sassssssssssesasessesssvassnsssosssae vaessassnassennesnsns 5
EXISTING CONDITIONS ..o ccrivrcriestcrarssesssescce e e csanessmesssesssss saenssmn s snsssaesssevansnee nanssassansssssnssaninasnonsnnss 7
Key Study Are@ ROAUWAYS ......ccviiiiiiiiiiiiecceie ettt er et e ettt e ettt be e e eva e s tesre e teers s te b stnetnassiesbesrte e 7
EXIStiNG INEEISECHONS ....oiitiicii ettt ettt et et s ettt ettt sae st e st s enesre e s s etieres 7
Data ColleCtion .....cvveiiceic s et e e et e bbbt e etbensbeeterees 8
Existing Conditions Capacity ANGIYSIS ..........ccovviiiiriiiriiireee ettt ettt ettt ere e eae e 8
BACKGROUND (2028) CONDITIONS.....ccceeimrerrsemmmmiresersersosssenmssessssssssasssassvenssssessessessesss sasssssssesssrassansasss 10

Background Traffic Volumes
Background (2028) Capacity ANIYSIS ..........ccciiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt sttt e st sae s 10

FUTURE (2028) CONDITIONS ...ccouiciscaseimmnsrssssrsmsssasesssessensasssssassssssssessessssssssessessasesvssssrsssnssnssesssnsessesssssnss 13
Proposed Development & SitE ACCESS ....c.vvciiiiiieeie ettt st et te e ere et bbb eerssbas s s b arres 13
TP GENETALION co.tieiiiiiec et et ettt e b e e sbesas e b e ssaesbessbeasarestsenbeteneeebesteneeteerenterssans 13
Future (2028) Capacity ANAIYSIS .......ccuiiirciiriiiiieietieerie et eetresessesrrestareatne s eessessesssessanseesratranseenssesenras 15
QUEUING ANGIYSIS ...eeiiriiieeiiri ettt b e st e be s sbesh e et s e ebb e et b esbersebeabesseeresbeseeetetestesbessereeees 16
Turn Lane Warrant ANAIYSIS........uviiiicicin ittt se s nias bt sbaesaa s tssn s s besreaaneassansenssrsaressesan 18

CONCLUSIONS AND RECONMNENDATIONS .....cccomrimmsirnsmmmsmmmmmmerssssmsnmssssssssssesssensssssesssssssassesssvacssers 21
CONCIUSIONS ..ottt sttt et et e st e e stesss e e s be e et e e etaesreteabeasabe e sbeesbeesseabeasbeetsassesbe et benbestesbanreenros 21
RECOMMENABLIONS ...ttt a e b e st sib e s b e £ e s s e s tteseesanesaesssaaseensannensesreansannas 22

Appendix

Traffic Impact Study 60116009

36 Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development i Progressive AE



List of Figures and Tables

Figures

Figure 1. Location Map and StudY Ar€a ..o e e 5
Figure 2. Existing Peak-Hour Volumes and Levels-0f-ServiCe........cccoocvviiiiiir st 9
Figure 3. Background (2028) Peak-Hour Volumes and Levels-0f-Service...........ccoovvviiiinccninrenicencnnns 12
Figure 4. Future (2028) Trip Distribution and Traffic Assignment.........c.cccoviiicncciiiini 19
Figure 5. Future (2028) Peak-Hour Volumes and Levels-0f-Service.........c.coovviiiiiiiniccncnnineci, 20
Tables

Table 1. EXiSting INtErSECHONS . .eiiiere it et san e et ee e s earee e s esetaneseesaans 7
Table 2. Existing Levels-of-Service and Delay .........cccocceeriiiianiieniciinince e s 8
Table 3. Background (2028) Levels-of-Service and Delay .........ccccoveiiricrniiniriereece e 11
Table 4. Weekday Morning and Afternoon Peak-Hour Trip Generation Summary ..........cccccvecnnnncnnonnnn. 14
Table 5. Future (2028) Levels-of-Service and Delay .........cccviiiiiiiininninicenicicsi i 16
Table 6. Existing, Background (2028) & Future (2028) 95% Percentile QUEUES...........ccvevererccncrnenrcinne 17
Traffic Impact Study 60116009

36" Street at Patterson Avenue Gommercial Development ii Progressive AE



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Introduction

Ben Muller Reality is proposing a commercial development on a roughly 10-acre parcel situated on the
northwest corner of the Patterson Avenue and 36" Street intersection. The proposed project includes the
construction of seven commercial buildings, including a hotel, bank, day care center, fast-food restaurant,

convenience store/gas station, and general retail space. Construction of the project is anticipated to be
completed within five years.

Access to the site will be via three site access driveways: two existing full access driveways to Patterson
Avenue, and one proposed full access driveway to 36t Street opposing the existing Eaton Corporation

Driveway. The driveways to Patterson Avenue oppose the existing driveways of Comcast and the United
States Postal Service.

As part of the project approval process, the Kent County Road Commiission (KCRC) and the City of
Kentwood have requested a traffic impact study be prepared to quantify the impacts the project may have
on the surrounding roadway network.

The purpose of this traffic impact study is to analyze the potential impacts of the planned development
and to identify what physical and/or operational roadway system improvements may be necessary to
mitigate existing or anticipated background issues, and/or impacts created by this development’s traffic.

Pre-study coordination was completed with the City of Kentwood and KCRC to help identify the required
study area, study parameters, and any specific areas of concern.

Study Area

The study area includes one existing signalized intersection and three existing stop-controlled
intersections as listed below.

Patterson Avenue at 36" Street

Patterson Avenue at Comcast Driveway (proposed north driveway)
Patterson Avenue at USPS Driveway (proposed south driveway)
36t Street at Eaton Driveway (proposed driveway)

Data Collection

Morning (7:00 ~ 9:00 a.m.) and afternoon (4:00 —6:00 p.m.) peak hour turning-movement counts at the
study area intersections were collected in August 2023 on a typical weekday.

Analysis

Three analysis scenarios were completed for the weekday morning and afternoon peak hours as part of
the study as follows:

o Existing Conditions
e Background (2028) Conditions
e Future (2028) Conditions

An annual background traffic growth rate of 2.50 percent was applied to the existing volumes to help
reflect anticipated non-development traffic increases by the 2028 horizon year. This background growth

rate is higher than typical and was utilized based on information provided by the Kent County Road
Commission.

Trip generation for the site was calculated for the typical weekday morning and afternoon peak hours
based on the methods of the ITE Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition, published by the Institute of
Transportation Engineers (ITE). After reductions for pass-by and internal trips, the site is expected to
generate approximately 300 new weekday morning peak hour vehicle trips (161 inbound, 138 outbound),

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36" Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 1 Progressive AE



and approximately 344 new weekday afternoon peak hour trips (172 inbound, 172 outbound) onto the
street system.

For the existing, background (2028), and future (2028) conditions, a capacity and queuing analyses were
performed to determine the impacts the site would have on the roadways and intersections within the
study area.

Conclusions

Based on the analyses performed as part of this study, the proposed development will have minor impacts
on the surrounding roadway network. The findings of this study are as follows:

Existing Conditions

The existing conditions analyses show the Patterson Avenue/36" Street intersection is currently operating
at an overall level of service (LoS) “C" during the morning peak hour, and LoS "D" during the afternoon
peak hour. All individual movements at the intersection are currently operating at LoS “D” or better during
the morning and afternoon peak hours, except for the movements listed below.

s The westbound leftturn movement is currently operating at LoS “E” during the morning peak hour.
e The northbound right-turn movement is currently operating at LoS “E” during the afternoon peak hour.

The controlled movements at the unsignalized study area intersections are currently operating at LoS ‘c’
or better during the morning and afternoon peak hours.

Background (2028) Conditions

The background (2028) conditions show the Patterson Avenue/36™" Street intersection is anticipated to
operate at an overall LoS “D” during the morning peak hour and deteriorate to an overall LoS “E”" during
the afternoon peak hour. Optimizing the signal timings at the intersection resulted in marginal
improvement; however, the intersection is anticipated to continue operating at an overall LoS "E” during
the afternoon peak hour. Additional capacity improvements such as dual northbound right-turns lanes
may be necessary in the future based on the anticipated background traffic growth.

All individual movements at the Patterson Avenue/36" Street intersection are anticipated to operate at
LoS “D” or better during the morning and afternoon peak hours, except for the movements listed below.

e The westbound left-turn movement is anticipated to operate at LoS "F” during the morning peak hour
and LoS "E”" during the afternoon peak hour. ‘

e The delay for the northbound right-turn movement is anticipated to increase significantly due to
background traffic growth. This movement is anticipated to operate at LoS “F” with long queues
during the afternoon peak hour, A detailed queuing analysis is provided in the next chapter.

The controlled movements at the unsignalized study area intersections are anticipated to continue
operating at LoS “C" or better during the morning and afternoon peak hours.

Future (2028) Conditions ‘

Compared to background (2028) conditions, the Patterson Avenue/36" Street intersection is anticipated
to continue operating at an overall LoS “D” during the morning peak hour and an overall LoS “E” during
the afternoon peak hour. As with background (2028) conditions, optimizing the signal timings at the
intersection resulted in marginal improvement; however, the intersection is anticipated to continue
operating at an overall LoS “E” during the afternoon peak hour.

All individual movements at the Patterson Avenue/36% Street intersection are anticipated to operate at
LoS “D” or better during the morning and afternoon peak hours, except for the movements listed below.

e As with background (2028) conditions, the westbound left-turn movement is anticipated to operate at
LoS “F" during the morning peak hour and LoS “E" during the afternoon peak hour. Traffic generated
by the proposed development has little to no impact on this movement.

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36" Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 2 Progressive AE



« As with background (2028) conditions, the northbound right-turn movement is anticipated to operate
at LoS “F” with long queues during the afternoon peak hour. Traffic generated by the proposed
development has little to no impact on this movement.

e Compared to background (2028) conditions, the southbound left-turn movement is anticipated to
deteriorate from LoS “D” to LoS “E” during the afternoon peak hour. This would likely be considered

acceptable, as the 95" percentile queue for this movement is anticipated to be contained within the
existing southbound left-turn lane.

The controlled movements at the proposed site driveways are anticipated to operate at LoS “C” or better
during the morning and afternoon peak hours.

The results of the queuing analysis show all queues for the controlled movements at the proposed site
driveways are anticipated to be one vehicle or less during the morning and afternoon peak hours. The
longest queue is anticipated to be for the eastbound left-turn movement at approximately one vehicle.
Vehicles turning left into the site from the two-way left-turn lanes along Patterson Avenue and 36" Street
are not anticipated to conflict with left-turn vehicle queues from adjacent intersections.

The most significant impacts related to vehicular queuing within the study area occur at the signalized
Patterson Avenue/36th Street intersection as follows:

e The queue within the dual westbound left-turn lanes is anticipated to slightly surpass the available
storage within the dual left-turn lanes due to the increase in background traffic volumes; however,
additional storage capacity is available within the existing two-way left-turn lane.

o The northbound right-turn movement queue is anticipated to significantly increase due to the increase
in background traffic volumes.

e The southbound left-turn movement queue is anticipated to increase to approximately 170 feet under
future (2028) conditions; however, the available storage within the left-turn lane is not exceeded. As
the proposed south driveway is located approximately 400 feet north of the Patterson Avenue/36™

Street intersection, this queue is not anticipated to conflict with northbound vehicles turning left into
the site.

The right-turn lane warrant analyses indicated right-turn lanes and/or tapers would be warranted at the
proposed site driveways as follows:

o A southbound right-turn lane would be warranted at the proposed north driveway to Patterson Avenue
during the morning peak hour while a right-turn taper would be warranted during the afternoon peak
hour. .

o A southbound right-turn lane would be warranted at the proposed south driveway to Patterson
Avenue during the morning and afternoon peak hours.

o A westbound right-tum taper would be warranted at the proposed driveway to 36" Street during the
morning and afternoon peak hours.

Recommendations

The following is a list of recommendations to mitigate the impact of the proposed development and
improve operations within the study area: ‘

e The proposed site driveways should operate as full access driveways to the proposed development.
Restricting movements at the driveways would funnel more traffic to other driveways, potentially
creating longer delays and queuing on those approaches.

o As shown on the proposed site plan, all exiting approaches at the site driveways should include a
separate left-turn lane and right-turn lane.

e A southbound right-turn lane should be constructed at both the proposed north and south site
driveways to Patterson Avenue. The right-turn lane should be designed and constructed to current
Kent County Road Commission standards.

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36 Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 3 Progressive AE



A westbound right-turn taper should be constructed at the proposed site driveway to 36! Street. The
right-turn taper should be designed and constructed to current Kent County Road Commission
standards.

Signal timings at the Patterson Avenue/36% Street intersections should be monitored and optimized
as construction of the proposed development is completed.

The Kent County Road Commission and/or the City of Kentwood should monitor the Patterson
Avenue/36" Street intersection for potential capacity improvements, such as dual northbound right-
turn lanes, should background traffic volumes increase as anticipated within this report.

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36" Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 4 Progressive AE






2. Background Growth. An annual background traffic growth rate of 2.50 percent was applied to the
existing volumes to help reflect anticipated non-development traffic increases by the 2028 horizon
year. This background growth rate is higher than typical and was utilized based on information
provided by the Kent County Road Commission.

3. Trip Generation/Distribution. The number of trips the proposed development is expected to
generate during peak hours was identified. These trips were then assigned to the adjacent street
system based upon the patterns followed by existing traffic and engineering judgment.

4. Levels of Service. Capacity calculations were completed at the study area intersections and the
proposed site driveways to identify existing and anticipated future peak hour operational
characteristics.

5. Mitigation. Roadway/intersection improvements were identified, when applicable, that will enable the
adjacent roadways and study area intersections to maintain equal and/or acceptable levels of
operation under future conditions upon the addition of background traffic growth and/or due to
development traffic.

Pre-study coordination was completed with the Kent County Road Commission and the City of Kentwood
to help identify the required study area, study parameters, and any specific areas of concern. The
following chapters outline the results of analyses completed during the study process.

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36™ Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 6 Progressive AE






Data Collection

Morning (7:00 — 9:00 a.m.} and afternoon (4:00 — 6:00 p.m.) peak hour tuming-movement counts at the
study area intersections were collected in August 2022 on a typical weekday. Figure 2 shows the existing
morning and afternoon peak hour volumes at the study area intersections. Detailed printouts of the count

reports are included in the appendix.

These counts indicated that the typical weekday morning peak hour generally occurs between 7:15 to
8:15 a.m. and the typical afternoon peak hour occurs between 4:15 to 5:15 p.m.

Existing Conditions Capacity Analysis

Intersection "level-of-service" (LoS) calculations were completed to evaluate the current operational

efficiency of the study area intersections. These calculations were completed using techniques outlined in
the Highway Capacity Manual, published by the Transportation Research Board. Per MDOT
requirements, Synchro® traffic analysis software, version 11, based on the Highway Capacity Manual

methodologies, was used in the analysis.

Levels-of-service at signalized and unsignalized
intersections relates to the delay, traffic volumes,
and intersection geometry. Levels of service are
expressed in a range from "A" to "F", with "A"
denoting the highest, or best, operating conditions.
Generally, a LoS “D” rating is considered the
minimum acceptable service level for signalized
and unsignalized intersections in most areas,
although a LoS “E” or LoS “F" can be deemed as
acceptable during the peak hours. The criteria for
determining the LoS at signalized and unsignalized
intersections are outlined in the appendix of this
report.

The existing morning and afternoon peak hours
were analyzed at the study area intersections.
Table 2 and Figure 2 show the levels-of-service at
the study area intersections. Copies of the
Synchro® analyses are included in the appendix.

As shown in Table 2, the Patterson Avenue/36%
Street intersection is currently operating at an
overall LoS “C” during the morning peak hour and
LoS “D” during the afternoon peak hour. All
individual movements at the intersection are

currently operating at LoS “D" or better during the

morning and afternoon peak hours, except for the
movements listed below.

o The westbound left-turn movement is currently
operating at LoS “E" during the moming peak
hour.

e The northbound right-turn movement is
currently operating at LoS “E” during the
afternoon peak hour.

Table 2. Existing Levels-of-Service and Delay

36" Street/ Patterson’/Avenue o
Overall C 33.8 D 43.8
EBL D 39.7 D 40.9
EBT/R D 45.8 D 50.8
WBL E 58.9 D 53.0
WBT/R D 36.3 D 45.0
NBL D 38.4 C 333
NBT C 23.9 [ 31.9
NBR B 10.9 E 64.4
SBL B 18.0 [ 29.0
SBT/R [ 30.4 C 24.7
“Patterson Avenue / Comcast Driveway! =
EB C 15.8 B 12.0
wB B 11.3 B 12.8
NB A 0 A 0
SBL A 8.1 A 8.5
"Patterson Avenue [ USPS Driveway! =
EB B 12.5 B 10.1
wa B 11.2 B 11.1
NBL A 9.2 A 8.1
SBL A 8.0 A 0
36! Street / Eaton Driveway' R
WBL A 8.0 A 8.5
NB A 9.2 B 10.4

TUnsignalized intersection, controlled movement(s) shown.
Source: Progressive AE, October 2023
The controlled movements at the unsignalized study area intersections are currently operating at LoS “C”
or better during the morning and afternoon peak hours.

Traffic Impact Study
36™ Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development

60116009

Progressive AE






CHAPTER 3

BACKGROUND (2028) CONDITIONS

The purpose of this chapter is to summarize the anticipated background (2028) traffic conditions within
the study area with background traffic growth in place. These analyses provide a basis for comparing
anticipated future conditions without the proposed development in place.

Background Traffic Volumes

An annual traffic growth rate was used to estimate growth on study area roadways. An annual growth rate
of 2.60 percent was applied to the existing peak hour volumes to help determine background (2028) peak
hour volumes. This background growth rate is higher than typical and was utilized based on information
provided by the Kent County Road Commission.

Figure 3 shows the anticipated background (2028) traffic volumes for the weekday morning and afternoon
peak hours with the addition of background growth.

Background (2028) Capacity Analysis

A capacity analysis was completed to evaluate the background (2028) morning and afternoon peak hours
at the study area intersections with background traffic in place. Table 3 and Figure 3 show the levels-of-
service at the study area intersections. Copies of the Synchro® analyses are included in the appendix.

As shown in Table 3, the Patterson Avenue/38'" Street intersection is anticipated to operate at an overall
LoS “D" during the morning peak hour and deteriorate to an overall LaS “E” during the afterncon peak
hour. Optimizing the signal timings at the intersection resulted in marginal improvement; however, the
intersection is anticipated to continue operating at an overall LoS “E" during the afternoon peak hour.
Additional capacity improvements such as dual northbound right-turns lanes may be necessary in the
future based on the anticipated background traffic growth, For the purposes of this study, no capacity
improvements or modifications to the existing signal timing were considered to have been implemented,

All individual movements at the Patterson Avenue/36" Street intersection are anticipated to operate at
LoS “D" or better during the morning and afternoon peak hours, except for the movements listed below.

o The westbound left-turn movement is anticipated to operate at LoS “F” during the morning peak hour
and LoS “E” during the afternoon peak hour.

o The delay for the northbound right-turn movement is anticipated to increase significantly due to
background traffic growth. This movement is anticipated to operate at LoS “F" with long queues
during the afternoon peak hour. A detailed queuing analysis is provided in the next chapter.

The controlled movements at the unsignalized study area intersections are anticipated to continue
operating at LoS “C” or better during the morning and afternoon peak hours.

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36" Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 10 Progressive AE



Table 3. Background (2028) Levels-of-Service and Delay

36th Street / Pattersor ;

Overall c 33.8 D 438 D 42.9 E 65.0
EBL D 39.7 D 40.9 D 40.0 D 40.7
EBT/R D 458 D 50.8 D 48.9 D 52.7
WBL E 58.9 D 53.0 F 89.2 E 55.5
WBT/R D 36.3 D 45,0 D 35.7 D 43,9
NBL D 38.4 c 33.3 D 427 D 40.8
NBT C 239 C 31.9 C 25.2 D 375
NBR B 10.9 E 64.4 B 12.0 F 139.6
SBL B 18.0 c 29.0 B 19.3 D 38.6
SBT/R C 30.4 c 24.7 D 40.7 C 30.6

Patterson Avenue / Comcast Driveway! =~ = .
EB C 15.8 B 12.0 C 17.6 B 12.9
ws B 11.3 B 12.8 B 12.0 B 13.7
NBL A 0 A 0 A 0 A 0
SBL A 8.1 A 8.5 A 8.2 A 8.7

Patterson Avenue /USPS Driveway! .. .. .
EB B 12.5 10.1 B 13.1 B 10.5
wB B 11.2 11.1 B 114 B 11.6
NBL A 9.2 8.1 A 9.6 A 8.3
SBL A 8.0 0 A 8.2 A 0

36" Street/Eaton Driveway' T T
WBL A 8.0 A 8.5 A 8.1 A 8.7
NB A 9.2 B 10.4 A 9.4 B 10.7

'Unsignalized intersection, controlled movements shown,

Source: Progressive AE, October 2023

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36" Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 11

Progressive AE






CHAPTER 4
FUTURE (2028) CONDITIONS

The purpose of this chapter is to summarize the anticipated future (2028) traffic conditions within the

study area with background traffic growth and the proposed development traffic in place. These analyses
provide the before/after comparison of future conditions and help define the timing and applicability of any
potential roadway improvements necessary to mitigate the impact of the proposed development.

Proposed Development & Site
Access

Ben Muller Reality is proposing a
commercial development on an
approximate 10-acre site located
on the northwest corner of the
Patterson Avenue & 36" Street
intersection. The proposed project
includes the construction of seven
commercial buildings, including a
hotel, bank, day care center, fast-
food restaurant, convenience
store/gas station, and general
retail space. A copy of the
preliminary site plan is included in
the appendix.

Access to the site will be via three
site access driveways: two
existing full access driveways to
Patterson Avenue and one
proposed full access driveway to
36t Street opposing the existing
Eaton Corporation Driveway. The
driveways to Patterson Avenue
oppose the existing Comcast
Driveway and USPS driveway.

Construction of the project is
anticipated to be completed within
the next five years.

Trip Generation

Y IR
E J ‘ﬁ 7

g;dTAcres ]

i
/
d
i
| I—

LSNP

(T Umt’5‘ N

o — P _..._‘.__/__T_“’___/.‘:‘::T ..................
e ||
Z CTLTIIT
= AL E 2|
= N
E =
I 1L
t 5 L R A
=] /l i
[Z‘_ ﬁn HIEE l{_

LOpi g e

s

‘:! [\ i

x B © N7
Umt Qi
10 es

Fs o reiad }
i
!

g

/l
:l
!,

1412 Acres\ 3{54

. (2S84

T

T

BISTHI

Patterson Avenue

11]

1cf

—

R

36th Street

~

-

The Trip Generation Manual, Eleventh Edition, by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) was
used to calculate the anticipated traffic that may be generated by the proposed site. Trips are measured
individually for inbound and outbound movements; therefore, a visit to the site by an employee or visitor,
for instance, generates two trips—one inbound and one outbound. Based on the fand use descriptions
provided within the ITE Trip Generation Manual, the most applicable land uses for the proposed site are

shown in Table 4.

The proposed site will capitalize on the high traffic volumes along Patterson Avenue and 36™ Street by
“capturing” customers passing by the location to/from work or other destinations. These trips are
classified as “pass-by" trips since they are already on the roadway network and enter the site as they

drive past. While pass-by trips do not add new trips to the roadway network, they add turning movements

at the site driveways.

Traffic Impact Study

36" Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development

13

60116009

Progressive AE



In addition to pass-by traffic reductions for the applicable land uses, the trip generation projections take
into consideration internally captured, or “shared”, trips that are common to this type of development. A
shared trip is one that visits more than one use on the site (e.g., a hotel guest that dines at the on-site
restaurant and/or visits the convenience store). This lessens the overall impact of a multiple-use site on
the adjacent street system. The National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) has
published Report 684 — Enhancing Internal Trip Capture Estimation for Mixed-Use Developments. The
current edition of the ITE Trip Generation handbook includes six types of applicable uses for trip sharing:
office, retail, residential, restaurant, cinema, and hotel. The methodology has been incorporated into a
spreadsheet model which estimates the morning and afternoon internal peak hour trips by arrival and
departure. The internal capture estimation tool worksheets are included in the appendix. Based on the
results of this analysis, it is anticipated approximately 12% of the morning peak hour trips and 13% of the
afternoon peak hour trips would be considered internal trips.

Trips were calculated for the typical weekday morning and afternoon peak hours. Table 4 shows the peak
hour trips anticipated to be generated by the proposed development after full completion of the site. The
site is expected to generate approximately 300 new weekday morning peak hour vehicle trips (161
inbound, 139 outbound), and approximately 344 new weekday afternoon peak hour trips (172 inbound,
172 outbound) onto the street system.

Table 4. Weekday Morning and Afternoon Peak-Hour Trip Generation Summary

Hotel 310 136 Rooms 61 34 27 73 37 36
Day Care Center 565 11,000 SF 121 64 57 122 57 65
. . 8,400 SF 20 12 8 69 34 35
Strip Retail Plaza (<40K) 822
7,200 SF 17 10 7 62 31 31
Drive-in Bank 912 3,000 SF 30 17 13 63 32 31
Fast-Food Restaurant with
Drive-through 934 3,000 SF 134 68 6_6 99 52 47
12 Fueling

Convenience Store/Gas Station 945 324 162 162 273 137 136

Paositions )
Subtotal: | 707 367 340 | 761 380 381

Less internal capture®: 81 40 41 99 49 50
Subtotal (trips at site driveways): | 626 327 299 662 331 331

Less pass-by trips% | 326 166 160 318 159 159

Total new trips: | 300 161 139 344 172 172

'Per ITE and NCHRP capture form, overall capture rates are 12% during the AM peak-hour and 13% during the PM peak-hour.
2|TE pass-by reduction percentages applied to commercial-uses;

Daycare: 40% AM and PM peak hour

Strip Retail: 25% PM peak hour

Bank: 29% AM peak hour, 35% PM peak hour

Fast Food Restaurant: 50% AM-peak hour, 55% PM peak hour

Convenience Store/Gas Station: 75% AM peak hour, 76% PM peak hour
Source: ITE Trip Generation Manual, 11* Edition

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36" Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 14 Progressive AE



Trip Distribution :

The directional distribution of the site generated new trips was based upon existing travel patterns and
engineering judgment. Based on these assumptions, the directional distribution to/from the proposed
development for site generated new trips is expected to be approximately as follows:

To/from Patterson Avenue north 30% To/from 36" Street east 25%
Toffrom Patterson Avenue south 30% Toffrom 36! Street west 15%

In addition to the overall distribution shown above, site trips were distributed to the three site driveways
based on the location and trip generation characteristics of each individual land use. This was
accomplished by dividing the overall site into zones and assigning generated trips for each zone
separately. For example, trips to/from the convenience store/gas station were primarily assigned to the
proposed south driveway along Patterson Avenue and the proposed driveway along 36t Street.

Based upon the above distribution patterns for new trips, existing directional patterns along Patterson
Avenue and 36" Street for pass-by trips, and the existing access driveway locations, the anticipated peak
hour site-generated traffic was assigned to the study area intersections. Figure 4 shows the total
anticipated morning and afternoon peak hour trips for site generated traffic upon full completion and
occupancy of the proposed site.

The anticipated site trips were added to the background (2028) peak hour volumes to depict the
estimated total future (2028) volumes during the morning and afternoon peak hours. Figure 5 shows the
total anticipated future (2028) volumes.

Future (2028) Capacity Analysis

Intersection level-of-service calculations were completed to evaluate the future (2028) morning and
afternoon peak hour conditions at the site access driveways and study area intersections assuming the
completion of the proposed development. Table 5 and Figure 5 show the levels-of-service at the study
area intersections. Copies of the Synchro® analyses are included in the appendix.

Compared to background (2028) conditions, the Patterson Avenue/36™ Street intersection is anticipated
to continue operating at an overall LoS “D” during the morning peak hour and an overall LoS "E” during
the afternoon peak hour. As with background (2028) conditions, optimizing the signal timings at the
intersection resulted in marginal improvement; however, the intersection is anticipated to continue
operating at an overall LoS "E” during the afternoon peak hour. For the purposes of this study, no

capacity improvements or modifications to the existing signal timing were considered to have been
implemented. '

All individual movements at the Patterson Avenue/36™ Street intersection are anticipated to operate at
LoS “D" or better during the morning and afternoon peak hours, except for the movements listed below.

e As with background (2028) conditions, the westbound left-turn movement is anticipated to operate at
LoS “F" during the morning peak hour and LoS “E” during the afternoon peak hour. Traffic generated
by the proposed development has little to no impact on this movement.

e As with background (2028) conditions, the northbound right-turn movement is anticipated to operate
at LoS “F" with long queues during the afternoon peak hour. Traffic generated by the proposed
development has little to no impact on this movement.

e Compared to background (2028) conditions, the southbound [eft-turn movement is anticipated to
deteriorate from LoS “D” to LoS “E” during the afternoon peak hour. This would likely be considered
acceptable as the 95! percentile queue for this movement is anticipated to be contained within the
existing southbound left-turn lane.

The controlled movements at the proposed site driveways are anticipated to operate at LoS "C” or better
during the morning and afternoon peak hours.

Traffic impact Study 60116009
36™ Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 15 Progressive AE



Table 5. Future (2028) Levels-of-Service and Delay

36th Street/ Patterson Avenue . S R . D N
Overall C 33.8 D 43.8 D 42.9 E 65.0 D 46.3 E 67.9
EBL D 39.7 D 40.9 D 40.0 D 407 D 404 D 41.3
EBT/R D 45.8 D 50.8 D 48.9 D 2.7 D 50.0 D 53.2
WBL E 58.9 D 53.0 F 89.2 E 55.5 F 89.2 E 55.5
WBT/R D 36.3 D 450 D 35.7 D 439 D 35.7 D 43.6
NBL D 384 o 333 | D 427 D 408 | D  46.1 D 46.5
NBT C 23.9 C 31.9 C 25.2 D 375 C 26.1 D 39.9
NBR B 10.9 E 64.4 B 12.0 F 139.6 B 12.7 F 147.5
SBL B 18.0 C 29.0 B 19.3 D 38.6 C 21.1 E 67.5
SBT/R C 30.4 C 247 D 40.7 C 30.6 D 51.7 C 34.2
‘Patterson Avenue / Comcast Driveway (Proposed North Driveway)! I T
EBL C 22.3 C 15.9
EBTR C 15.8 B 12.0 C 17.6 B 12.9 B 110 B 104
WwB B 11.3 B 12.8 B 12.0 B 13.7 B 13.5 C 16.2
NBL A 0 A 0 A 0 A 0 B 10.3 A 8.5
SBL A 8.1 A 8.5 A 8.2 A 8.7 A 8.2 A 8.7
Patterson Avenue / USPS Driveway,(Proposed South Driveway)! e
EBL C 22.8 B 14.1
EBTR B 12.5 B 10.1 B 13.1 B 10.5 B 1.4 B 107
WwB B 11.2 B 11.1 B 11.4 B 11.6 B 12.7 B 13.8
NBL A 9.2 A 8.1 A 9.6 A 8.3 B 10.4 A 8.6
SBL A 8.0 A 0 A 8.2 A 0 A 8.2 A 0
36'" Street / Eaton Driveway (Proposed Driveway)! L e
EBL : - - - - - - - - A 8.0 A 8.1
WBL A 8.0 A 8.5 A 8.1 A 8.7 A 8.1 A 8.6
NB A 9.2 B 10.4 A 9.4 B 10.7 A 9.3 B 11.0
SBL B 14.5 C 17.7
SBT/R i ) i i i i i i A 91| A 9.1

'Unsignalized intersection, controlled movements shown.
Source: Progressive AE, October 2023

Queuing Analysis

A queuing analysis was performed at the study area intersections to compare the existing, background
(2028) and future (2028) vehicular queues at the study area intersections. Table 6 shows the shows the
anticipated 95" percentile queues at the study area intersections for all three scenarios. Copies of the
Synchro® analyses are included in the appendix.

The results of the queuing analysis show all queues for the controlled movements at the proposed site
driveways are anticipated to be one vehicle or less during the morning and afternoon peak hours. The
longest queue is anticipated to be for the eastbound left-turn movement at approximately one vehicle.
Vehicles turning left into the site from the two-way left-turn lanes along Patterson Avenue and 36" Street
are not anticipated to conflict with left-turn vehicle queues from adjacent intersections.

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36" Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 16 Progressive AE



The most significant impacts related to vehicular queuing within the study area occur at the signalized
Patterson Avenue/36t Street intersection as follows:

The queue within the dual westbound left-turn lanes is anticipated to slightly surpass the available
storage within the dual left-turn lanes due to the increase in background traffic volumes; however,
additional storage capacity is available within the existing two-way left-turn lane.

The northbound right-turn movement queue is anticipated to significantly increase due to the increase
in background traffic volumes.

The southbound left-turn movement queue is anticipated to increase to approximately 170 feet under
future (2028) conditions; however, the available storage within the left-turn lane is not exceeded. As
the proposed south driveway is located approximately 400 feet north of the Patterson Avenue/36t

Street intersection, this queue is not anticipated to conflict with northbound vehicles turning left into
the site. ‘

Table 6. Existing, Background (2028) & Future (2028) 95'" Percentile Queues

36th Street/ Patterson Avenue ( ; ;
EBL 2501 62 76 69 85 69 85
EBT/R - 92 230 106 262 108 268
WBL 30072 305 216 365 245 365 245
WBT/R - 148 172 166 190 178 2086
NBL 5001 41 48 44 53 57 71
NBT - 184 356 212 415 221 432
NBR 200 16 707 32 1230 46 1230
SBL 300 26 50 29 58 42 170
SBT/R - 338 274 476 344 505 368
"Pattet$on Avenue / Proposed North Driveway & Comcast Driveway. |~ 00 oliina i
EBL - 15 13
EBT/R - 0 0 0 0 8 8
WB - 5 3 8 5 8 5
. NBL 100! 0 0 0 0 5 5
SBL 1001 0 0 0 0 0 0
‘Patterson Avenue / Proposed South Driveway & USPS Driveway - [ 7005 0o s
EBL - 18 10
EBT/R - 3 0 3 0 13 13
WB ' - 3 3 3 3 3 3
NBL 100! 0 0 0 0 8 5
SBL . 1001 0 0 0 0 0 0
36" Street/ Proposed Driveway & Eaton Driveway - SR e
EBL 2501 - - - - -3 5
WBL 501 0 -0 0 0 0 0
NB - 0 3 0 3 0 "3
SBL - 8 13
SBT/R - ) ) ) i 3 5

Additional storage within existing two-way left-turn lane

2Storage length for dual left-turn lanes, additional storage available within existing two-way left-turn lane.
Source: Progressive AE, October 2023

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36" Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 17 Progressive AE



Turn Lane Warrant Analysis

Based on the volume of traffic anticipated to be generated by the proposed development and the volume
of traffic along Patterson Avenue and 36" Street, right-turn lane warrants were applied at the proposed
site driveways. Left-turn lane warrants were not performed as the existing two-way left-turn lane will serve
as a left-turn lane into the site. Turn lane warrant graphs for the site driveways are included in the
Appendix.

Future turning movement volumes at the proposed site driveways to Paterson Avenue and 36" Street
were utilized to apply Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) guidelines for right-turn lanes and
tapers contained within the “Geometric Design Guidance” manual. These guidelines were utilized as the
Kent County Road Commission uses them as a guideline for establishing the need for turning lanes on
county roadways. The warrant analyses indicated right-turn lanes and/or tapers would be warranted at
the proposed site driveways as follows:

« A southbound right-turn lane would be warranted at the proposed north driveway to Patterson Avenue
during the morning peak hour while a right-turn taper would be warranted during the afternoon peak
hour. '

s A southbound right-turn lane would be warranted at the proposed south driveway to Patterson
Avenue during the morning and afternoon peak hours.

e A westbound right-turn taper would be warranted at the proposed driveway to 36t Street during the
morning and afternoon peak hours.

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36M Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 18 Progressive AE



®

36TH ST

L
<
pd
o
w
4
0]
E
I
g | ™
PROPOSED oo
NORTH b
DRIVEWAY 210
(53) 424 P 5 1 COMCAST
(54) 55 Y DRIVEWAY
g a
cq
=23
Es
PROPOSED S
SOUTH T
DRIVEWAY 21
m)wJP\1 UsPs
(89) 88 DRIVEWAY
w
2o
[a]
g
o=
a Lt
o=
© &
a0
= G
R gas
~ o cogx
‘;"L K62 (83 J""L K. 30 @31)
36TH ST e J Sl
J . \s/
(53) 43 (3) 4=>[w 1
(-29) -18 == (16) 10~
QR
S z
= 2
z 5 L
£z E
higa =

®

36TH STREET AT PATTERSON AVENUE COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT TRAEFIC IMPACT STUDY

LEGEND

XX (XX) = AM (PM) GENERATED TRIPS
(%= DISTRIBUTION FOR NEW TRIPS

FUTURE 2028? TRIP DISTRIBUTION

+ TRAFFIC ASSIGNMENT

N

®

No Scals

FIGURE

4







CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS AND RECONMMENDATIONS

This chapter summarizes the results of the analyses performed as part of the study. Recommendations to
improve the surrounding roadway network are also presented.

Conclusions

Based on the analyses performed as part of this study, the proposed development will have minor impacts
on the surrounding roadway network. The findings of this study are as follows:

Existing Conditions

The existing conditions analyses show the Patterson Avenue/36%" Street intersection is currently operating
at an overall LoS “C" during the morning peak hour and LoS “D" during the afternoon peak hour. All
individual movements at the intersection are currently operating at LoS “D" or better during the morming
and afternoon peak hours, except for the movements listed below.

¢ The westbound left-turn movement is currently operating at LoS “E” during the morning peak hour.
¢ The northbound right-turn movement is currently operating at LoS “E” during the afternoon peak hour.

The controlled movements at the unsignalized study area intersections are currently operating at LoS “C”
or better during the morning and afternoon peak hours.

Background (2028} Conditions

The background (2028) conditions show the Patterson Avenue/36% Street intersection is anticipated to
operate at an overall LoS “D” during the morning peak hour and deteriorate to an overall LoS “E" during
the afternoon peak hour. Optimizing the signal timings at the intersection resulted in marginal
improvement; however, the intersection is anticipated to continue operating at an overall LoS “E”" during
the afternoon peak hour. Additional capacity improvements, such as dual northbound right-turns lanes,
may be necessary in the future based on the anticipated background traffic growth. ’

All individual movements at the Patterson Avenue/36" Street intersection are anticipated to operate at
LoS “D" or better during the morning and afternoon peak hours, except for the movements listed below.

e The westbound left-turn movement is anticipated to operate at LoS “F" during the morning peak hour
and LoS "E” during the afternoon peak hour.

¢ The delay for the northbound right-turn movement is anticipated to increase significantly due to
background traffic growth. This movement is anticipated to operate at LoS “F” with long queues
during the afternoon peak hour. A detailed queuing analysis is provided in the next chapter.

The controlled movements at the unsignalized study area intersections are anticipated to continue
operating at LoS “C” or better during the morning and afternoon peak hours.

Future (2028) Conditions

Compared to background (2028) conditions, the Patterson Avenue/36t Street intersection is anticipated
to continue operating at an overall LoS “D” during the morning peak hour and an overall LoS “E” during
the afternoon peak hour. As with background (2028) conditions, optimizing the signal timings at the
intersection resulted in marginal improvement; however, the intersection is anticipated to continue
operating at an overall LoS “E” during the afternoon peak hour.

All individual movements at the Patterson Avenue/36" Street intersection-are anticipated to operate at
LoS "D’ or better during the morning and afternoon peak hours, except for the movements listed below.

e As with background (2028) conditions, the westbound left-turn movement is anticipated to operate at
LoS “F” during the morning peak hour and LoS "E” during the afternoon peak hour. Traffic generated
by the proposed development has little to no impact on this movement.

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36 Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 21 Progressive AE



o As with background (2028) conditions, the northbound right-turn movement is anticipated to operate
at LoS “F” with long queues during the afternoon peak hour. Traffic generated by the proposed
development has little to no impact on this movement.

o Compared to background (2028) conditions, the southbound left-turn movement is anticipated to
deteriorate from LoS “D” to LoS “E” during the afternoon peak hour. This would likely be considered

acceptable as the 95! percentile queue for this movement is anticipated to be contained within the
existing southbound left-turn lane.

The controlled movements at the proposed site driveways are anticipated to operate at LoS “C" or better
during the morning and afternoon peak hours.

The results of the queuing analysis show all queues for the controlled movements at the proposed site
driveways are anticipated to be one vehicle or less during the morning and afternoon peak hours. The
longest queue is anticipated to be for the eastbound left-turn movement at approximately one vehicle.
Vehicles turning left into the site from the two-way left-turn lanes along Patterson Avenue and 36" Street
are not anticipated to conflict with left-turn vehicle queues from adjacent intersections.

The mast significant impacts related to vehicular queuing within the study area occur at the signalized
Patterson Avenue/36t™ Street intersection as follows:

e The queue within the dual westbound left-turn lanes is anticipated to slightly surpass the available
storage within the dual left-turn lanes due to the increase in background traffic volumes; however,
additional storage capacity is available within the existing two-way left-turn lane.

e The northbound right-turn movement queue is anticipated to significantly increase due to the
increase in background traffic volumes.

e The southbound left-turn movement queue is anticipated to increase to approximately 170 feet
under future (2028) conditions; however, the available storage within the left-turn lane is not
exceeded. As the proposed south driveway is located approximately 400 feet north of the
Patterson Avenue/36!" Street intersection, this queue is not anticipated to conflict with northbound
vehicles turning left into the site.

The right-turn lane warrant analyses indicated right-turn lanes and/or tapers would be warranted at the
proposed site driveways as follows: '

s A southbound right-turn lane would be warranted at the proposed north driveway to Patterson Avenue
during the marning peak hour while a right-turn taper would be warranted during the afternoon peak
hour.

e A southbound right-turn lane would be warranted at the proposed south driveway to Patterson
Avenue during the morning and afternoon peak hours.

¢ A westbound right-turn taper would be warranted at the proposed driveway to 36! Street during the
morning and afternoon peak hours.

Recommendations

The following is a list of recommendations to mitigate the impact of the proposed development and
improve operations within the study area:

o The proposed site driveways should operate as full access driveways to the proposed development.
Restricting movements at the driveways would funnel more traffic to other driveways, potentially
creating longer delays and queuing on those approaches.

o As shown on the proposed site plan, all exiting approaches at the site driveways should include a
separate left-turn lane and right-turn lane. A

e A southbound right-turn lane should be constructed at both the proposed north and south site
driveways to Patterson Avenue. The right-turn lane should be designed and constructed to current
Kent County Road Commission standards.

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36™ Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 22 Progressive AE



e A westbound right-tum taper should be constructed at the proposed site driveway to 36" Street. The
right-turn taper should be designed and constructed to current Kent County Road Commission
standards.

o Signal timings at the Patterson Avenue/36™ Street intersections should be monitored and optimized
as construction of the proposed development is completed.

e The Kent County Road Commission and/or the City of Kentwood should monitor the Patterson
Avenue/36" Street intersection for potential capacity improvements, such as dual northbound right-
turn lanes, should background traffic volumes increase as anticipated within this report.

Traffic Impact Study 60116009
36" Street at Patterson Avenue Commercial Development 23 Progressive AE




(I

PROJECT
LOCATION

Project Location Map @

Sheet Index

C-100 Cover Sheet

C-101 Existing Site Conditions
C-102 Alternate Site Plan

C-103 Preliminary PUD Site Plan
C-104 Preliminary Storm Water Plan
C-105 Preliminary Utility Plan

Civil Engineer & Surveyor

Exxel Engineering, Inc.

Environmental Consultant

Barr Engineering Co.

Transportation Engineer

TBD

Landscape Architect

100000000,

RIM Design Inc.

1971 E. Beltline Ave NE, Suite 217
Grand Rapids, MI 49525

Phone: (616) 336-6071
www.rjm-design.com

H MORGAN
LANDSCAPE
% ARCHITECT

2000000000000

) 2

/R JAMES \
]
4

RU&NS Mof EVN

4 N\
L rE
558
Cit
< -5
v £32
RS
3
U):
TiE
£ w9
c Z un
L 92
=i 5
e £4
558
q EE
g i
g 4
4 ~ N\
SEY
==
oo
= =
. O
3
S =
o> L7
=B
D e
= ==
= Su
< mo
QO Sa
g 4
4 N\
ol
= O
O o s
wd ©
(@)
H I o —
-
(&)
o E‘ °
[ ]
N m 8
cC 2
: H :
< € «
N N
Yy —
A\ 4
N
DATE: ISSUED FOR:
09/12/2023 OWNER REVIEW
'\0/02/2023 PLANNING COMM. REVIEW
P.I.C. R. JAMES MORGAN
P.M.
DESIGN
J
[ RUM PROJECT NUMBER |
SHEET NAME
SHEET NUMBER
A\ 4







1,185.61°
Y" e e e —————————— =

-PUD
ZONE

20.05 Acres

735.04

N 58_2_.34’__

-

_

.

i

Patterson Avenue

~

773.99’

WA, AR
0 60 120 180

Scale of Feet

@ o
3
[op]
-
=
IS
= =
o
[ p =
= =
o 5
B e
= =3
e —_— S
oD
S £2
— £
S =5,
< 5
O Sa

ning ¢ Landscape Architecture

M DESIGN

Land Plan

R]

Ph: (616) 336-6071

\,

GRR Ancillary C-PUD

Preliminary Site Plan
Kentwood, Michigan

DATE: ISSUED FOR:

09/12/2023| OWNER REVIEW

10/02/2023

PLANNING COMM. REVIEW

P.I.C.

P.M.

DESIGN

r

RIM PROJECT NUMBER h

23004

SHEET NAME

SITE PLAN

ALTERNATE

SHEET NUMBER

' C-102




Ph: (616) 336-6071

www.rjm-design.com

Land Planning ¢ Landscape Architecture

1971 E. Beltline Ave NE, Suite 217
Grand Rapids, M1 49525

I-PUD C-PUD
20.05 Acres 10.57 Acres

POSSIBLE FUTURE DRIVE
CONNECTION TO NORTH
b I
582.34 |7
A ‘ ‘
- - - LI

- o - ¥, - - o=

RJM DESIGN

1,185.61°

FUTURE ENTRANCE DRIVE

TO INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY

5252 CLYDE PARK, S.W. @ GRAND RAPIDS, MI 49509

PHONE (616) 531-3660

|
|
|
|
|
|
|
exxel engineering inc.

il
D C\ o @
— T E Thru |

=EE
w/ Drive- |

8,000 SF

i

I | 68 CARS | —
I . -—
== =
5 — 1 11 ! BAarrcsal A - - —— “sunalN
Parcel 1 A rcel 4 |
~ i = 70’ =
3.26 Acres E% — 3,000 SF Bank e
= \ \ * wl Drive-Thru \
= U |
14 |
....... |
Hotel E — |
4-Stories - 77?5 = \|
135 Rooms === =— |
21,000 SF Id
. |
s a |
] 118’ |
‘ |
EXISTING POND | ’ ’ l ‘ I I ) I I I I o / () [ ] ~1.03 Acres s o ||
EXISTING CREEK ﬁmﬂ |
SSSSSSS o
= | 179 CARS 2 I B
£

‘ ”ﬂ l l , ‘ I l l 4,000 SF Restaurant
<  wl/ Drive-Thru

18’ 30 ’
147 \ /
\\ .......... = ==
»  Child Care Center S
11,500 SF
[an — =)
RRRREERE
60" 10| 19 39’ |18,
%

Q
>

EXISTING WETLANDS

760.35’

Parcel 2 71 CARS 2«
1.08 Atres SIS Parcel 6

2.19 Acres

110

FUTURE COMMERCIAL BUILDING
AND PARKING (20 CARS)
CONDITIONED ON SECURING EGLE
WELAND PERMIT

g C-Store
Parcel 3. Diesel 6,000 SF =

[P APEELT H -

\

’ [an =)
! | Future \ 6 s

|

i Commercial / Retail

GRR Ancillary C-PUD
Preliminary Site Plan
Kentwood, Michigan

18

— 38 CARS .
: 9,500 SF o \ N
S N T R L ~ : <
] _7=9 [ = — AN
“&EE AR : \ b
- - - - - - - - —\[EE - J 22 DATE: ISSUED FOR:
- - - - . - = - - - - .
2 1 09/12/2023| OWNER REVIEW
61 8 45’ . 10/02/2023| PLANNING COMM. REVIEW

SITE DEVELOPMENT DATA: \ | / R JAMES MORGAN

P.M.
DESIGN
Existing Zoning: | - PUD Parking Requirements / Calculations: b u?
Existing Master Plan: C-PUD [ RUM PROJECT NUMBER )
Proposed Zoning: C-PUD Parcel No.  Parcel Area *Proposed Use Required Spaces Proposed Spaces
Total Area: 460,413 SF  10.57 Acres 1. 3.26 Acres Hotel w/ 135 Rooms & 15 Employees 150 Spaces 179 Spaces 2 3 O 04
|| Paveded Areas: 239,057 SF 5.49 Acres 2. 1.03 Acres Child Care Center w/ 165 Kids & 12 Employees 35 Spaces 35 Spaces T
|| Building Areas: 62,773SF  1.44 Acres 3 1.02 Acres 9,500 SF Retail 38 Spaces 36 Spaces PRELIMINARY
|| Open Space 158,583 SF 3.64 Acres (34%) 4, 2.04 Acres 8,000 SF Retail 31 Spaces 68 Spaces North o) ST LA
Req'd Open Space 138,124 SF 3.17 Acres (30%) 4. 3,000 SF Bank 15 Spaces 15 Spaces
5 1.03 Acres 4,000 SF Restaurant (2,500 USF) 50 Spaces 34 Spaces R A Ay —
6. 2.19 Acres 6,000 SF Gas Station & Convenience Store 30 Spaces 38 Spaces 0 60 120 180
Totals 10.57 Acres 352 Spaces 405 Spaces S C - 1 O 3
* Proposed uses are Preliminary and may be replaced with other C-PUD permitted uses during Site Plan Review \ ~




N[ N[ N[ N[
£ = o
uebBIYdIN ‘pooMIudy : ] 5 o

e bd z z < AT IS

. . . x L O = - = A m
Wod usisap-wli mmm STS6W 1IN ‘spidey puen gl ° 0 O < Z zZ = O

T£09-9€€ (9T9) ‘Ud LTT 3¥NS “IN AV Bull}29 "3 TL6T 0995-1£G (919) INOHd o &g 2 T >z 5 W 5
24n12911y2.y adedaspue] « Sujuue|d pue 60S6Y 1N ‘SQIdVY ONVYO @ 'S Mivd 30A10 ¢5C6 - = - M W Awn e M O — m = m W —

* = |
NSDISIAd N —.ﬂ— oul buieauibua [pxxe 315 2 : - | FzE|s

-0 Alejpou 5 g2 |7

i |l N =5 |7 O
- NI olzlg | 1®
- = a5 )\ J
J \, J \, WV, v,
| o
N2

B i
B ,r NS 5
| I — R
— N

,. N
| o N o
- Z X 2
- B— e N
" - hwu/ W 2 O
N e —r (D)
\

54
' 5
© 1

LA () Lo o - / \
> 5 @ i | = .,/
A = S /| ,
T D X w o o \\ m = /
' SN S e s £ ,./
W 00.. \ \ / ¥y = i
1 ! i ] 1 /
\ P \

>

=

o

~

H

Existing Storm Sewer
Proposed Storm Sewer

- —
[ (1
O 5 =N
w 2 S\ mnquv
Iem © v © 2 N I -
% 8 = 8 s 3 o |
- £ 5L 2 2 ‘ a
owu‘\l() 4—.% % m , ””
(] ‘ "
I
I
| [
|
ﬁ,
|
|
% i !
|
|
,L\ ““““““ #
|

.95’

1,151




Ph: (616) 336-6071
www.rjm-design.com

Land Planning e Landscape Architecture

RJM DESIGN

S /)%7 77777 T §§
- 2 =k
4 | 36
.
. 8
n >
l | B
', .
’ .
1,185.01 i 28
o= B
[ | 6 L:
Q) =
|= = ==
I > 7
le = £3
| ® 2z
| = 5=
N| | < C=
i |
7,850 SF A @
/ T -
Retail L
ive- B Q \
w/drive-thru | | | | S l =3
R |
s f
o
o
1 T
&l o
oD ) | ><
v |2 & \I |
CONC e - = z II
SPILLWAY . B o | \ \
| £ e Q
ot S “ 0 -
)\ \
9 | \ t’, !:::
\
| Hotel . = (T
| / O —_
4-Stories . \ - m
=) 135 Rooms ‘.I v n_
| Ak 20,923 SF | C 0
: o O o ¢
| i s
] i 'dj “ m
= I I " —
o — P l L
o J @ D =
. - | =
O NOTE : - \47\ l\’l\ l m E
g SE EXPANDED TO ACCOMMODATE 0, m - N . 4,000 SF ! -
N~ PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT N, e REE S — Restaurant — go
: w/ Drive-Thru _| — o
@) — e | N — m
(@) . \‘ u o
™~ ol N 8 [ o N I 0 PRUC =—— 7 |\ \ U s ;
Play Day Care Center = Lo =
/ | ::: T -
; Area 11,500 SF | \ @
. <L £ ¥
r/ ”””
I___I ’*fﬁf‘ R — =D ‘| \ =
lv// % L I:I:: —
| !
| - |2 o Feh)
| | L g
L e > g e n_
%!. C-Store 5: = '. \
| ' 5! \
- | pice 6,000 SF 4 .
\ |
N Y |
N 1 \ / \ ) B—— 4? H
% N7 ‘\\. /
. Future \
' Commercial /| Retail | \\
| 9,500 SF
: \, W,
L1 - - - L | - = L | - = L | L] - L ] - . . - . . | - - - . 77 1
I —— - -- - -- - - - e - - . ‘ . _ _ . . . DATE: ISSUED FOR:
l —O—— 1 ',] 51 9_5}L | v 08/23/2023| OWNER REVIEW
| B I B ; ] | i 09/15/2023| PLANNING COMM. REVIEW
- R - — — - T S — — — B b

P.IC. R. JAMES MORGAN
P.M.
DESIGN
_J
UTILITY KEY: 4 ™)

RIM PROJECT NUMBER
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, - Existing Storm Sewer

ffffffffffffff - Proposed Storm Sewer 2 3 O 04

SHEET NAME
Existing Sanitary Sewer
Proposed Sanitary Sewer North B'I?IEI}IITI\:IKIII\DIALX{I\T

fffffffff E XiSti ng Water M ain i, LG G G SHEET NUMBER
fffffffff Proposed Water Main 0 60 120 180

Scale of Feet L C - 1 O 5




	Agenda
	Proposed Minutes
	Case 24-23 FofF SLU
	Case 24-23 FofF SP
	Case 26-23 FofF SLU
	Case 26-23 FofF SP
	Case 27-23 FofF SLU
	Case 27-23 FofF SP
	Case 28-23 SLU Recommnedation
	Case 28-23 SP Recommendation
	Case 28-23 Site Plan
	Image_20231010_0001
	Image_20231016_0001
	Image_20231016_0002

	Case 25-23 Memo
	Case 25-23 Staff Report
	Case 29-23 Report
	Case 29-23 MP Amendment
	Case 29-23 Operating Agreement
	Case 29-23 Traffic Impact Study
	Case 29-23 Site Plan
	C-100
	C-101
	C-102
	C-103
	C-104
	C-105




